
There is an induction hearing loop system available in all meeting rooms.  Some of the 
systems are infra-red operated, if you wish to use this system then please contact 
Pippa Turvey on 01733 452460 as soon as possible.

AB
PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 5 JULY 2016
1.30 PM

Bourges/Viersen Rooms - Town Hall

AGENDA
Page No

1. Apologies for Absence

2. Declarations of Interest

At this point Members must declare whether they have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, or other interest, in any of the items on the agenda, 
unless it is already entered in the register of members’ interests or is a 
“pending notification” that has been disclosed to the Monitoring Officer.

3. Members' Declaration of intention to make representations as Ward 
Councillor

4. Minutes of the Meeting Held on 26 April 2016 3 - 10

5. Development Control and Enforcement Matters

5.1 16/00349/FUL - Land to the East of Manor Farm, Nene Way, 
Sutton, Peterborough

11 - 32

5.2 16/00497/HHFUL - 20 High Street, Glinton, Peterborough, PE6 
7LS

33 - 40

5.3 16/00590/FUL - Fitzwilliam Hospital, Milton Way, Bretton, 
Peterborough

41 - 58

5.4 16/00671/FUL - 3 - 7 Oxford Road, Millfield, Peterborough, PE1 
3BL

59 - 70

5.5 16/00861/FUL - 85 Mayors Walk, West Town, Peterborough, 
PE3 6EY

71 - 78

Public Document Pack



Emergency Evacuation Procedure – Outside Normal Office Hours

In the event of the fire alarm sounding all persons should vacate the building by way of the nearest escape 
route and proceed directly to the assembly point in front of the Cathedral.  The duty Beadle will assume 
overall control during any evacuation, however in the unlikely event the Beadle is unavailable, this 
responsibility will be assumed by the Committee Chair.

Committee Members:

Councillors: C Harper (Chairman), L Serluca (Vice Chairman), J Bull, G Casey, P Hiller, J Stokes, 
S Martin, A Sylvester, A Bond, A Clark and C Ash

Substitutes: Councillors: R Bisby, Amjad Iqbal, N Sandford and B Saltmarsh

Further information about this meeting can be obtained from Pippa Turvey on telephone 01733 
452460 or by email – philippa.turvey@peterborough.gov.uk

CASE OFFICERS:

Planning and Development Team: Nicholas Harding, Lee Collins, Andrew Cundy, Paul Smith, 
Mike Roberts, Louise Lewis, Janet Maclennan, Astrid 
Hawley, David Jolley, Louise Lovegrove, Vicky Hurrell, 
Amanda McSherry, Sam Falco, Matt Thomson, Chris 
Edwards, Michael Freeman

Minerals and Waste: Theresa Nicholl, Alan Jones

Compliance: Nigel Barnes, Anthony Whittle, Karen Cole, Julie Robshaw

NOTES:

1. Any queries on completeness or accuracy of reports should be raised with the Case Officer 
or Head of Planning, Transport and Engineering Services as soon as possible.

2. The purpose of location plans is to assist Members in identifying the location of the site.  
Location plans may not be up-to-date, and may not always show the proposed development.  

3. These reports take into account the Council's equal opportunities policy but have no 
implications for that policy, except where expressly stated.

4. The background papers for planning applications are the application file plus any documents 
specifically referred to in the report itself.

5. These reports may be updated orally at the meeting if additional relevant information is 
received after their preparation.



AB
    MINUTES OF THE PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION COMMITTEE 

HELD AT THE TOWN HALL, PETERBOROUGH ON 26 APRIL 2016

Members Present: Councillors Harper (Chairman), Serluca (Vice-Chairman), Hiller, North, 
Stokes, Martin, Sylvester, Okonkowski, Harrington, and Lane

Officers Present:  Nicholas Harding, Head of Development and Construction
Jim Daley, Principal Built Environment Officer (Archaeology and 
Building Conservation) 
Simon Ireland, Principal Engineer (Highways)
Theresa Nicholl, Development Manager
Ruth Lea, Planning and Highways Lawyer
Karen Dunleavy, Democratic Services Officer

1. Apologies for Absence

No apologies for absence were received.

2. Declarations of Interest

There were no declarations of interest.

Councillor Stokes declared an interest in 15/01106/OUT – Land to the South of Oundle 
Road at East of England Showground, Oundle Road, as a Ward Councillor for Orton 
Waterville. Councillor Stokes confirmed that she had not been involved in any ward work 
in relation to the item. She was not, however, predetermined.

3.    Members’ Declaration of intention to make representations as Ward Councillor

No Member declarations of intention to make representations as Ward Councillor were 
received. 

4. Minutes of the Meeting Held on 22 March 2016

The minutes of the meeting held on 22 March 2016 were approved as a correct record.

5. Development Control and Enforcement Matters

5.1 15/01106/OUT – Land to the South of Oundle Road at East of England 
Showground, Oundle Road, Alwalton, Peterborough

The planning application was for up to 130 dwellings on Land to the South of Oundle 
Road, at East of England Showground, Oundle Road, with all matters reserved except 
for access.

The Head of Development and Construction provided an overview of the application and 
highlighted a number of key issues within the report and update report.

A motion was put forward and agreed by the Committee to extend the speaking time for 

3



speakers and to permit an additional speaker.  The Committee agreed to the 10 minute 
extended speaking time and to allow Cambridgeshire County Councillor Roger Henson 
to speak on the item.

Councillor Aitken, speaking on behalf of Arena Drive residents, addressed the 
Committee and responded to questions from Members. In summary the key points 
highlighted included:

 Residents in the main were not in objection to the planning application, however, 
wanted to raise concerns over road access points;

 Residents wished that the Committee consider implementation of a time 
restricted access for the proposed entrance at Joeseph Odam Way (JOW), for a 
future planning meeting; and  

 There was a preference to the construction of an access point on Oundle Way.

Parish Councillor Iyer, speaking on behalf of Alwalton Parish Council addressed the 
Committee and responded to questions from Members. In summary the key points 
highlighted included:

 Concerns were raised over the A605 junction and the volume of traffic that may 
increase as a result of the development; 

 Traffic approaching from the new development would not be given priority;
 It was estimated that 200 cars would need to gain access to through Lynchwood 

to get to schools during rush hour;
 Cars travelling from the A1 North and Chesterson could be at risk of traffic 

accidents due to anticipate congestion issues;
 Access points at the end of the East of England Showground and Joseph Odam 

Way was felt more appropriate; 
 Concerns were raised with regards to the proposed traffic signals at the A605 

junction.  Alwalton benefits from free flowing traffic currently, however, the  
installation of traffic signals could cause traffic tailback and potentially traffic 
accidents;

 Concerns raised over the A605 junction and proposed grass verge increase; and
 Consideration should be given to the installation of a roundabout near the 

Marriot Hotel in order to filter traffic. 

County Councillor Roger Henson, speaking on behalf of Cambridgeshire County Council 
addressed the Committee and responded to questions from Members. In summary the 
key points highlighted included:

 The Parish Council had written to Peterborough City Council to outline their 
traffic congestions concerns in relation to the proposed development;

 There were already heavy traffic congestion issues near the Showground 
particularly during events such as Truckfest;

 The A605 was a high and wide route for heavy goods vehicles and a traffic light 
installation could cause significant traffic tailback and confusion for drivers;

 There were height restrictions at bridges surrounding the area, which would 
cause difficulties for high heavy goods vehicles should they divert from the 
normal route; 

 Consideration should be given to install an alternative traffic management route 
through JOW and install a roundabout near the Marriott Hotel entrance; and

 Cambridge County Council (CCC) had not disagreed with the application, 
however, if was felt by the Parish Councillors (PCs) that the proposals had not 
been communicated to the respective CCC Committee meetings or raised 

4



appropriately with PCs for the area.
 
Roy Banham, Mark Sinlo and Liz Moore, Alwalton Villagers speaking in objection 
addressed the Committee in objection to the application and responded to questions 
from Members. In summary the key points highlighted included:

 There had been some inconsistency over the number of properties contained in 
the initial planning proposals, which had been on display at Bayard Place; 

 There would be traffic congestion issues if the proposals were to go ahead and 
residents did not agreed with the installation of traffic light signals;

 It was imperative for the traffic to be directed through JOW and not Alwalton;
 Concerns had been raised over the traffic proposals and potentially increase with 

the House of Commons to seek their view;  
 Suggestions had been made to the Authority to install and Zebra Crossing on 

Royce Road leading to the Cuckoo Public House and was told that the Parish 
Council would be required to fund this option.  The PC could not consider this 
option as there were inadequate funds;

 Residents were in the main not against the development.  However, requested 
that consideration was given to installation of an entrance at the end of Oundle 
Road;

 The entrance at JOW should be a temporary measure for construction traffic to 
time limited use;

 Traffic generated on Oundle Road and A1 junction would produce grid lock and 
conservation issues for the village of Alwalton;  

 The planning application should be rejected due to safety issues;
 The proposed installation of traffic lights at the Alwalton junction would cause the 

risk of accidents as traffic would turn right into stop go traffic; 
 There had been no benefit for Alwalton villagers other than CIL money and 

residents would struggle with the increased traffic issues; and 
 There had been a number of developments in the areas and that there were 

1020 houses plus to the Lynchwood Estate; and  
 Traffic light installation at the Alwalton Village junction would not deter increased 

traffic movement as the area currently experienced heavy traffic due to the 
access point from the A1 and A605 junction.  Alwalton villagers would be in 
favour to the proposal if the A1 offshoot junction was closed off.

At this point Councillor Martin left the meeting briefly and decided not to take part in the 
discussions and vote.

David Henry and Nigel Eggar of Savills addressed the Committee in support of the 
application and responded to questions from Members. In summary the key points 
highlighted included:

 The principal development of the site had been well established in April 2012;
 The original plan included in the Local Plan for the construction of dwellings was 

being brought forward;
 There had been no technical objection raised;
 Alternative routes raised for access points had been explored and considered by 

the developers and Authority Officers, however had been found not feasible;
 The scheme had been concluded by Authority Officers as acceptable;
 The development had offered a number of benefits such as a foot and cycleway 

on the south side of Oundle Road, CIL and new homes bonus on Council Tax;
 Authority Officers had confirmed that the development would not impact on the 

Alwalton conservation area;

5



 The traffic signal junction was proposed to mitigate the traffic issues;
 Construction traffic management would be considered at the reserved matters 

stage of the planning application;
 The scheme was considered a fair and balanced scheme and had been reduced 

to the original proposal put forward; and
 The Committee was requested to endorse the Authority Officers 

recommendation and approve the application; 
 Whilst the proposed traffic light junction would inherently result in queues, the 

road lay out plan would allow traffic to merge more freely onto Oundle Road.  
 The future traffic impact rate had been taken into account using the highways 

model up to 2025 and it had been anticipated that the traffic queue length would 
increase by 21 vehicles to the back of a queue, which was felt to hold no relative 
impact;

 The alternative traffic management options considered included installation of a 
roundabout, however had been found unachievable due to the space required, 
the intrusive impact on the conservation area and the cost involved.  The signal 
light installation, offered a better solution as it would allow for tactile paths and 
had been sympathetic to the conservation area;

 The option of the removal of a filter lane on the Oundle Road had been 
considered as the area was too small for a left hand slip road arrangement 
turning left into the village.  Similarly the left hand exit slip road was far too long 
and a reduction of 80 metres should aid traffic flow; and

 Proposals for installation of an entrance on Joseph Odam Way had been 
rejected by Savills due to double land ownership issues.  This option would 
require two roads to be constructed next to existing residential properties and on 
balance had not been feasible.

In response to questions raised by Members, the Chairman advised that a roundabout 
option had not been included in the planning application and therefore could not be 
considered by the Committee.  The Principal Engineer (Highways) advised the proposal 
of a right exit leaving the development site to Oundle Road had been acceptable as the 
junction had adequate visibility splays when turning right, which was a priority for this 
area.

The Committee discussed the application noted that the application was an outline to 
the development and the housing numbers were acceptable and could accommodate 
210 dwellings.  The only objection had been to the access and egress, however 
highways Officer had found the proposals acceptable.  The traffic light option had been 
an acceptable scheme in terms of traffic management for the development site.

A motion was proposed and seconded to agree that permission be granted, as per 
officer recommendation, subject to the conditions set out in the report, with authority to 
be delegated to the Corporate Director Growth and Regeneration to make any 
necessary or appropriate adjustments to these conditions including the imposition of 
new conditions, and the completion of a S106 Agreement. The motion was carried 9 for 
and 1 abstention.

RESOLVED: (9 for and 1 abstention) that planning permission is GRANTED subject to:

1) The conditions set out in the report, with authority to be delegated to the 
Corporate Director Growth and Regeneration to make any necessary or 
appropriate adjustments to these conditions including the imposition of new 
conditions; and

2) The completion of a S106 Agreement.

6



2.34pm - At this point Councillor Martin left meeting

Reasons for the decision

Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal was acceptable having 
been assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against 
relevant policies of the development plan and specifically:

The application site was allocated for development in the adopted Site Allocations DPD. 
The principle of locating housing on this site was therefore established. Subject to 
conditions and completion of a S106 Agreement the development would accord with 
policy CS8 of the adopted Core Strategy.

Notwithstanding the concerns that had been raised the new access into the site was 
considered to be acceptable in principle subject to the associated signalisation of the 
junction into Alwalton village. Subject to conditions therefore, the development was 
considered to comply with policy PP12 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD. 

Subject to a condition to create a buffer around it, it was considered that an acceptable 
relationship could be secured with 5-7 Oundle Road which was a listed building and that 
any harm caused would be less than substantial. It was considered that the signalisation 
of the junction into Alwalton village would have some impact upon the Alwalton 
Conservation Area which included a number of listed buildings but with the amended 
junction design this would be less than substantial. The harm to the heritage assets was 
outweighed by the benefits of the scheme namely the provision of housing and a safe 
highway network. The proposal was therefore considered to be acceptable in the 
context of the provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework, sections 66 and 72 
of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act, policy CS17 of the 
adopted Core Strategy and policy PP17 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD.

In principle it was considered that the site could be developed without any unacceptable 
adverse impact upon neighbour amenity and that it could afford the new occupiers a 
satisfactory level of amenity. The proposal therefore accords with policies PP3 and PP4 
of the adopted Planning Policies DPD. 

Subject to conditions the site can be adequately drained. The development therefore 
accords with policy CS22 of the adopted Core Strategy DPD.

The application would not have any significant ecological impacts subject to conditions. 
The layout could also be designed to accommodate existing on site trees. The proposal 
therefore accorded with policy PP16 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD.

Affordable housing provision would be secured through the S106 Agreement and the 
development would also pay CIL. The proposal therefore accorded with policy CS13 of 
the adopted Core Strategy.

5.2 16/00398/FUL – 1650 Lincoln Road, Peterborough, PE6 7HH

The planning application was for three new gas compressors at 1650 Lincoln Road, 
Peterborough, including enclosures, a new vent stack, site office, administration and 
welfare buildings, and associated infrastructure.

The Development Manager provided an overview of the application and highlighted a 
number of key issues within the report and update report.

7



Paul Emmit the Lead Project Manager, National Grid addressed the Committee as the 
applicant for the application and responded to questions from Members. In summary the 
key points highlighted included:

 The National Grid supplied to homes and commercial users and Peterborough 
was a site that transported gas across the UK;  

 The 40 year old site would be replaced with a modern system ultralow 
emissions, which would lower the impact on the environment;  

 All aspects of refusal of the scheme previously had been reviewed carefully to 
ensure that an improved scheme was put forward;

 Residents and Parish Councils had been canvassed and comments had fed 
back to enhance the plans to reduce the environmental impact;

 Concerns raised by residents over the scheme had been addressed; and
 The National Grid would continue to work with the local community during 

construction.

The Committee discussed the application noted the consultation that National Grid had 
undertaken with the local community to improve and change their original proposals.  
The installation of a natural tree option had been a benefit to local people and would 
improve the visual appearance compared to the original scheme.  Some members also 
expressed that the CO2 levels could be better.

A motion was proposed and seconded to agree that permission be granted, as per 
officer recommendation, subject to the conditions set out in the report. The motion was 
carried unanimously.

RESOLVED: (unanimous) that planning permission is GRANTED subject to the 
conditions set out in the report.

Reasons for the decision

The proposed development to the Peterborough Gas Compressor Station was part of a 
national programme of upgrades for key operational sites in the National Transmission 
System of gas energy supply.  The primary focus of which was the reduction of 
emissions to meet the European Union Directive for Large Combustion Plants.  The 
proposals were supported by EN 1, the overarching National Policy Statement for 
Energy.  The reduction in NOx and CO2 would benefit the local environment.  The 
proposals would result in a development which would be more visible than the current 
gas compressor site, in particular the new gas turbine compressor units and the vent 
stack (which was to be located on the proposed extended site to the east of the current 
facility).  It was accepted that for operational and safety issues as well was planning 
issues such as flood risk, the eastern extension of the site was the most viable and that 
the principle of the development was acceptable in accordance with policy CS1 of the 
Core Strategy.  The application details had been assessed and the key issues relating 
to the following matters have been identified;

Transport
Scale/design and impact on neighbours
Impact on landscape character and landscaping
Biodiversity/ecology
Heritage/archaeology
Noise
Odour/pollution

8



Flood Risk/Drainage

Of these issues, scale and design (impact on views) and noise had been noted as of 
particular importance to those residents who have made comments. The previous 
application was refused on a visual appearance ground only. The applicant had 
subsequently worked hard in consultation with Glinton Parish Council, residents and the 
Local Planning Authority, to overcome this reason for refusal.  It was considered that the 
proposed enhancements to the scheme do overcome the reason for refusal.

The above detailed issues have been considered against national policies contained in 
the NPPF and the relevant development plan policies, and whilst there will still be some 
impact on visual amenity, it was not significant enough to result in the application being 
contrary to policy.  In terms of noise, the proposal would be no worse than the existing 
plant and indeed the proposed noise condition was more stringent than that currently 
imposed.  All other issues have been satisfactorily dealt with and/or can be covered by 
the imposition of conditions.  The exception was construction hours where the applicant 
proposes to deal with construction noise through means outside the planning system 
which was acceptable.  There have been no objections raised by statutory or other 
consultees. The National Planning Policy Framework set out that proposed development 
which accorded with an up to date local plan should be approved.  In this instance, the 
local plan (the development plan) was up to date because the relevant policies accorded 
with the NPPF.  There were no other material considerations which indicated that the 
development should not be approved in line with the development plan.

At 2.59pm the committee had a comfort break and recommenced the meeting at 
3.15pm.

5.3 16/00180/HHFUL – 5 Woodfield Road, Peterborough, PE3 6HD

The planning application was for a two storey extension to the side of 5 Woodfield Road, 
Peterborough and a single storey extension to the rear.

The Head of Development and Construction provided an overview of the application and 
highlighted a number of key issues within the report.

A motion was proposed and seconded to agree that permission be granted, as per 
officer recommendation, subject to the conditions set out in the report. The motion was 
carried unanimously.

RESOLVED: (unanimous) that planning permission is GRANTED subject to the 
conditions set out in the report.

Reasons for the decision

Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal was acceptable having 
been assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against 
relevant policies of the development plan and specifically:

 The proposed development would not result in an unacceptable impact on the 
character of the area or neighbour amenity.

 The proposed parking provision, in the context of the application site, where 
there was capacity to park one car on the street was considered acceptable.

The development was therefore in accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough 
Core Strategy and Policies PP02, PP03 and PP12 of the Peterborough Planning 

9



Policies DPD.

5.4 16/00334/HHFUL – 126 Ainsdale Drive, Werrington, Peterborough, PE4 6RP

The planning application was for a single storey rear extension to 126 Ainsdale Drive, 
Werrington and a porch to the side elevation.

The Head of Development and Construction provided an overview of the application and 
highlighted a number of key issues within the report.

A motion was proposed and seconded to agree that permission be granted, as per 
officer recommendation, subject to the conditions set out in the report. The motion was 
carried unanimously.

RESOLVED: (unanimous) that planning permission is GRANTED subject to the 
conditions set out in the report.

Reasons for the decision

Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal was acceptable having 
been assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against 
relevant policies of the development plan and specifically:

 The proposal would not unacceptably harm the character of the area, the 
amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings or the safety of users of the 
nearby highway network; in accordance with policy CS16 of the Peterborough 
Core Strategy (DPD) 2011 and policies PP2, PP3 and PP13 of the Peterborough 
Planning Policies (DPD) 2012.

6. Partnership Scheme in Conservation Areas (PSiCA) (Cowgate)

The Committee received a report which outlined the review of the Partnership Scheme 
in Conservation Areas (PSiCA) grant scheme (2011/12-2014/15) that supported the 
repair, restoration and reinstatement of building fabric in Cowgate, an important part of 
the City Centre Conservation Area.  The report explained how successful the scheme 
had been and the benefits achieved.  The Committee was also advised that the planning 
team were exploring the introduction of the same scheme for the Wesgate area.

In response to a question raised by Members, the Principal Built Environment Officer 
advised that locations were being researched for the relocation of the Post Office as a 
result of the Queensgate improvement works. 

The Committee congratulated the Principal Built Environment Officer on the 
development of the partnership scheme on Westgate and Cowgate, which had also 
encouraged people to reside in the centre. 

RESOLVED:
 
The Committee noted the review of the Partnership Scheme in Conservation Areas 
(PSiCA) in the Cowgate area of the City Centre Conservation area.

Chairman
1.30pm – 3:38pm

10



11



This page is intentionally left blank

12



Planning and EP Committee 5 July 2016 Item 1

Application Ref: 16/00349/FUL 

Proposal: Proposed demolition of farm buildings and construction of 2 dwellings 
together with associated works

Site: Land To The East Of Manor Farm, Nene Way, Sutton, Peterborough

Applicant: Mr Andrew Sharpley
J.P and M. Sharpley + Son

Agent: Marrons Planning

Referred by: Head of Planning 
Reason: Departure from Local Plan 

Site visit: 14.06.2016

Case officer: Mr M A Thomson
Telephone No. 01733 453478
E-Mail: matt.thomson@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation: GRANT subject to relevant conditions  

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site and Surroundings
The site is at the north-east corner of Sutton. The area was developed as a farm yard associated 
with Manor Farm, although Manor Farm (the house and stables) was separated off from the 
farmland and the farm yard in question some time ago. There are various 20th-century agricultural 
buildings across the site, in various states of repair. These buildings are a mixture of steel and 
timber portal buildings with corrugated roofs of varying ridge heights from 5.8m to 9m. This tallest 
is a former grain dryer. 

These buildings are dilapidated to various extents. There is also a large area of hardstanding. The 
application states that the farmyard is no longer used, although neighbours have previously 
commented that the access and associated track are in use.  

The site is partly within, and partly outside, the village envelope. The village envelope runs north-
south along the ends of the gardens to houses on Manor Road, these plots are typically about 75m 
deep, and so the village envelope is 75m deep to the east of Manor Road. Manor Road meets 
Nene Way at its northern end, and the corner plot is Manor Farm. Manor Farm is formed of the 
core buildings of the farm, including the house, stables and other outbuildings, a lawn, kitchen 
garden and so on. This plot is about 80m north-south and 50-55m deep from Manor Road.

The application site is to the east of Manor Farm. The village envelope continues north on its 
alignment behind the Manor Road dwelling plots, and the entirety of Manor Farm is within the 
village envelope. The former farm yard to the east, most of which is within the application site, is 
not all within the village envelope. The eastern access across the yard is outside the village 
envelope, as are some of the buildings and a large area of hardstanding.  

Between Manor Farm and the first of the row of dwelling plots to the south on Manor Road is a 
vacant piece of land. It appears to fit the pattern of plot layouts on Manor Road, although is about 
half the width of the typical plots. Outline planning permission for residential development was 
granted in 2001 under App Re: 01/00550/OUT. Part of the largest agricultural building just projects 

13



into the east end of this plot, but otherwise there are views out of the village across this land. 

Proposal
The Applicant is seeking planning permission to demolish the existing farm buildings and erect two 
detached dwellings, a single storey shared outbuilding, a shared access driveway and a 
landscaping strip. An existing access to the farmyard would also be closed up. 

The proposed dwellings would have an L-shape layout, these would face north and east 
respectively and would share a single storey outbuilding providing garaging, bin and log storage. 
The shared driveway would run almost the length of the application site. The driveway would be 
about 65m long and 3.5m wide.

History
In 2014 planning permission was sought for 5 dwellings; this scheme was subject to pre-
application advice, various amendments and discussions with the Applicant and Agent and was 
subsequently recommended for approval to the Planning and Environmental Protection Committee 
in April 2015, however the Committee resolved to refuse planning permission for the following 
reasons;

R 1 Part of the application site falls outside the settlement envelope ... and is therefore located 
in open countryside. The proposal is for general residential development and therefore is 
contrary to the provisions of Policy CS1 of the Peterborough Core Strategy (February 2011) 
as it is not a form of housing which is supported by the policy.

- The application site is the same as the previous 2014 application, which extends in the 
region of 20 metres outside of the village envelope. The reason for this is that the farmyard 
extends 20 metres outside of the village envelope and includes a large area of hard 
standing and an agricultural building. The number of units proposed has been reduced from 
5x dwellings to 2x dwellings with a shared single storey outbuilding; these structures would 
be situated only slightly outside of the village envelope. The majority of the development to 
be located outside the village envelope would be the provision of an access road and a 
planted landscape buffer and is supported by Officers. The Parish Council have not 
objected to this proposal. 

 
R 2 Part of the application site is located within a Minerals Safeguarding Area (MSA) and whilst 

the dwellings themselves are located outside the  MSA, their proximity to the MSA would 
result in the extraction in the locality being compromised as it would bring residential 
development closer to the MSA  than is the case now. 

- As the number of units has been reduced from 5x dwellings to 2x dwellings, there is less 
encroachment into the Mineral Safeguarding Area therefore this application would not form 
a significant constraint to any future mineral extraction. 

 
R 3 The dominant nature of the built form of the village is frontage development in spacious 

plots with individual building designs. The village has Conservation Area status but the 
application was not accompanied by a heritage statement as required by paragraph 128 of 
the NPPF. The proposal is at odds with this given its backland nature and similarly 
designed properties. Consequently the proposal will not be in keeping with key 
characteristics of the Conservation Area and will be detrimental to it including in terms of 
views in to and within the Conservation Area itself. 

- A heritage statement has been submitted which considers the Sutton Conservation Area 
and adjacent listed Manor Farm House and found to be acceptable by the Council's 
Conservation Officer.

 
R 4 Adjacent to the site is a Grade II Listed building but the application was not accompanied 

by a heritage statement as required by paragraph 128 of the  NPPF. The proposed 

14



development will have a significant impact on the Listed building itself and also on its 
setting as a result of the siting, form, mass and design of the development. 

- A heritage statement has been submitted which considers the Sutton Conservation Area 
and adjacent listed Manor Farm House and found to be acceptable by the Council's 
Conservation Officer.

R 5 The proximity of the proposed development to the existing amenity area of the adjacent 
Manor House will result in a loss of privacy and will have an overbearing relationship. 

- The proposed layout has been designed to overcome concerns with respect to a loss of 
amenity to the adjacent Manor Farm House.  

2 Planning History

Reference Proposal Decision Date
14/02024/FUL Proposed demolition of farm buildings and 

construction of 5 dwellings with associated works
Refused 10/04/2015

3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990

Section 66 - General duty as respects listed buildings in exercise of planning functions 
The Local Planning Authority has a statutory duty to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting, or any features of special architectural or historic interest 
which it possesses.

Section 72 - General duty as respects conservation areas in exercise of planning functions. 
The Local Planning Authority has a statutory duty to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the Conservation Area or its setting, or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses.

National Planning Policy Framework (2012)

Section 6 - Residential Development in the Open Countryside 
Housing should be located where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities.  New 
isolated homes in the open countryside should be resisted unless there are special circumstances.

Section 12 - Conservation of Heritage Assets 
Account should be taken of the desirability of sustaining/enhancing heritage assets; the positive 
contribution that they can make to sustainable communities including economic viability; and the 
desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness.  When considering the impact of a new development great weight should be given 
to the asset’s conservation.  

Planning permission should be refused for development which would lead to substantial harm to or 
total loss of significance unless this is necessary to achieve public benefits that outweigh the 
harm/loss.  In such cases all reasonable steps should be taken to ensure the new development will 
proceed after the harm/ loss has occurred.

Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)

CS01 - Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside 

15



The location/ scale of new development should accord with the settlement hierarchy. Development 
in the countryside will be permitted only where key criteria are met.

CS02 - Spatial Strategy for the Location of Residential Development 
Provision will be made for an additional 25 500 dwellings from April 2009 to March 2026 in 
strategic areas/allocations.

CS10 - Environment Capital 
Development should make a clear contribution towards the Council’s aspiration to become 
Environment Capital of the UK.

CS16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm 
Design should be of high quality, appropriate to the site and area, improve the public realm, 
address vulnerability to crime, be accessible to all users and not result in any unacceptable impact 
upon the amenities of neighbouring residents.

CS17 - The Historic Environment 
Development should protect, conserve and enhance the historic environment including non-
scheduled nationally important features and buildings of local importance.

CS20 - Landscape Character 
New development should be sensitive to the open countryside. Within the Landscape Character 
Areas development will only be permitted where specified criteria are met.

Peterborough Site Allocations DPD (2012)

SA04 - Village Envelopes 
These are identified on the proposals map. Land outside of the village envelop is defined as open 
countryside.

Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Mineral and Waste Core Strategy DPD (2011)

CS26 – Mineral Safeguarding Areas
Development within these areas will only be permitted where it has been demonstrated to the 
Planning Authority that: the mineral concerned is no longer of any value; or it can be extracted prior 
to development taking place; or that the development will not inhibit future extraction of the mineral; 
or that there is overriding need for the development and that prior extraction cannot reasonably 
take place; or that the development is not incompatible with safeguarding/extraction. 

Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)

PP01 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
Applications which accord with policies in the Local Plan and other Development Plan Documents 
will be approved unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  Where there are no relevant 
policies, the Council will grant permission unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

PP02 - Design Quality 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes a positive contribution to the built 
and natural environment; does not have a detrimental effect on the character of the area; is 
sufficiently robust to withstand/adapt to climate change; and is designed for longevity.

PP03 - Impacts of New Development 
Permission will not be granted for development which would result in an unacceptable loss of 
privacy, public and/or private green space or natural daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or 
other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to minimise opportunities for crime and disorder.

PP04 - Amenity Provision in New Residential Development 

16



Proposals for new residential development should be designed and located to ensure that they 
provide for the needs of the future residents.

PP05 - Prestigious Homes 
Permission will not be granted for development involving the loss of prestigious, top-of-the market 
housing unless there is clear evidence of appropriate marketing or new prestigious homes would 
be created.

PP07 - Occupational Dwellings in the Countryside 
Permission for a permanent dwelling will only be granted to enable an agricultural/forestry worker 
to live at or in the immediate vicinity of their place of work.  Permission will not be granted for a 
new permanent dwelling in association with a proposed or newly established enterprise in the 
countryside.

PP12 - The Transport Implications of Development 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate provision has been made for safe access by all user 
groups and there would not be any unacceptable impact on the transportation network including 
highway safety.

PP13 - Parking Standards 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all modes of transport is made 
in accordance with standards.

PP15 - Nene Valley 
Development which safeguards and enhances recreation or which would bring landscape, nature 
conservation, heritage, cultural or amenity benefits will be supported.  Development which would 
increase flood risk or compromise flood defences will not be permitted.

PP16 - The Landscaping and Biodiversity Implications of Development 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes provision for the retention of trees 
and natural features which contribute significantly to the local landscape or biodiversity.

PP17 - Heritage Assets 
Development which would affect a heritage asset will be required to preserve and enhance the 
significance of the asset or its setting.  Development which would have detrimental impact will be 
refused unless there are overriding public benefits.

PP20 - Development on Land affected by Contamination 
Development must take into account the potential environmental impacts arising from the 
development itself and any former use of the site.  If it cannot be established that the site can be 
safely developed with no significant future impacts on users or ground/surface waters, permission 
will be refused.

Peterborough Local Plan 2016 to 2036 (Preliminary Draft)
This document sets out the planning policies against which development will be assessed. It will 
bring together all the current Development Plan Documents into a single document. Consultation 
on this document runs from 15 January to 25 February 2016. 

At this preliminary stage the polices cannot be afforded any weight with the exception of the 
calculation relating to the five year land supply as this is based upon the updated Housing Needs 
Assessment and sites which have planning permission or which are subject to a current 
application. Individual policies are not therefore referred to further in this report.

4 Consultations/Representations

PCC Pollution Team (05.01.15)
No objection – The granting of planning permission will alter the character of the locality and there 

17



may be potential for disturbance to the new dwelling residents from sources at Manor Farm.  
Should those sources result in nuisance the local authority would have a duty to require the 
abatement of the nuisance. 

Waste Management (04.04.16)
Comments - The access needs to be in accordance with the details listed in the RECAP Design 
Guide; the main issue seems to be lack of a turning space as the vehicle cannot reverse more than 
12 metres to reach the collection point for the bins. Please provide further details to demonstrate 
how the bins can be collated safely and where the Refuse Collection Vehicle would be able to turn 
around, providing tracking if possible.

Sutton Parish Council (31.03.16)
No objection - The Parish Council have responded with the following comments; 

- This application for 2x dwellings is a huge improvement on the previously submitted schemes, 
with an appropriate number of buildings and carefully designed to be in keeping with the traditional 
building form of the village. 

- The Parish Council (PC) remain uneasy that a significant part of the application site lies outside 
the village boundary. The PC therefore requests that eastern site boundary be pushed westwards 
without pushing the dwellings further west and/or placing legally binding safeguards to ensure the 
scheme does not set a precedent for building outside the village envelope. Also, the 
buildings and concrete hard-standings be removed and a landscaping scheme be drawn up, 
implemented and maintained. 

- The PC have also requested the matters of amenity be considered, a gate be provided to prevent 
vehicles from continuing south through the site in the interest of security and crime prevention, a 
condition be attached to ensure that the buildings shown on 'Sketch Urban Design Principles' do 
not form part of the approved plans and clarification that the scheme is for 2x dwellings and not 5x 
dwellings.

English Heritage (23.03.16)
No objection - The application(s) should be determined in accordance with national and local policy 
guidance, and on the basis of your specialist conservation advice.

PCC Conservation Officer (31.05.16)
No objection - From a heritage consideration the proposed development is supported as this would 
respect the setting and the significance of Manor Farm House (grade II Listed) and preserve the 
character and appearance of the entrance to the village and the Sutton Conservation Area. 

It is considered that the proposal would not have an adverse impact on the character and 
appearance of the Manor Farm House and would accord with section 66(1) Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and is in accordance with Peterborough Core 
Strategy DPD (2011), Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012) and the National Planning 
Policy Framework (Heritage considerations) 

The proposal would preserve the character and appearance of the Sutton Conservation Area and 
accord with Section 72(1), of the Town and Country Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 (as amended) and likewise is in accordance with Peterborough Core Strategy 
DPD (2011), Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012) and the National Planning Policy 
Framework (Heritage considerations)

Conditions regarding hard and soft landscaping, building materials and boundary treatments would 
be appropriate.

PCC Minerals and Waste Officer (Policy) (04.04.16)
Object - The eastern part of the site containing the access road and landscaping lies within a 

18



Minerals Safeguarding Area (MSA). The two proposed dwellings, though sited within the existing 
village envelope, have principal elevations towards Mineral Safeguarding Areas and it is 
considered that development of this nature is not compatible; on this basis the proposal fails to 
accord with policy CS26 (Mineral Safeguarding Areas), of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Minerals and Waste Core Strategy. 

To minimise any conflict with future quarrying activities the proposed landscaping of the site to both 
the north and east could be designed in such a way as to enhance screening for the development 
in addition to any biodiversity and landscape enhancements.

Second Round
The Agent provided a rebuttal in response to the above comments. This has been reviewed by the 
Council's Minerals and Waste Officer who has responded as follows; 

Thanks for bringing this to my attention. My concerns were essentially that additional residential 
development would necessitate an increased buffer size to any potential future mineral extraction 
within the Mineral Safeguarding Area (MSA). I am pleased to note that there is no intention to seek 
any further development to the east of the access road in the future and consider that a 
landscaped strip would offer some visual screening from any mineral development within the MSA 
in the future.

GeoPeterborough (Sites of Interest) 
No comments received

Archaeological Officer (21.03.16)
No objection - The archaeological record shows a dearth of finds within a 250m radius although, 
historically, the place name would suggest a possible medieval/post-medieval origin for the farm.

Cartographic evidence shows that the part of the site to be affected by redevelopment is relatively 
modern. In addition, most of the area is currently occupied by farm buildings the foundation of 
which are likely to have caused extensive damage.

There is insufficient evidence to justify a programme of archaeological work. However, given the 
historic origin of the site the applicant and/or his/her agents to report any remains/finds exposed 
during groundwork operations.

Building Control Manager (24.03.16)
No Objection - Building regulations are required. Ensure level access and a suitable driveway 
surfacing. If any part of the rear dwelling is further than 45m from the highway the drive will have to 
be constructed to suit fire service vehicles.

Cambridgeshire Fire & Rescue Service 
No comments received

Education & Childrens Dept - Planning & Development 
No comments received

PCC Transport & Engineering Services (05.04.16)
No objection - The Local Highway Authority (LHA) have advised that a small-scale S278 
Agreement would need to be entered into to remove the redundant access and reinstate the verge. 
The LHA have also advised that the boundary wall may cause an obstruction to the vehicle to 
vehicle visibility splay, and that the wall be constructed so that it runs along the back of the splay. 

The LHA have concluded no objection subject to securing conditions with respect to the provision 
and retention of parking and turning, temporary facilities during construction, access construction 
and access closure, visibility splays, positioning of gates and provision of wheel cleansing.

19



Second Round 
Amended plans have been received which illustrate satisfactory vehicle to vehicle visibility splays, 
however the pedestrian visibility splays will need to be correctly drawn. This matter can be secured 
by planning condition.

Section 106 Minor Group (15.03.16)
No objection - The proposed development would be caught by the Community Infrastructure Levy 
Regulations (2014). 

Strategic Housing (17.03.16)
No objection - There is no affordable housing requirement because the development is for less 
than 15 dwellings.

PCC Tree Officer (31.05.16)
No objection - The landscaping buffer proposed to the west could use Oaks, as well as a variety of 
native species, such as a native hedge and mix of wild cherry, field maple, Rohan and hazel. Tree 
protection required as per previous scheme. 

Local Residents/Interested Parties 

Initial consultations: 22
Total number of responses: 5
Total number of objections: 5
Total number in support: 0

Four letters of representation from two addresses have been received raising the following 
concerns. The 5th response relates to Parish Council comments, referred to above. 

- The plans do not show the current village envelope; 
- Proposed plot sizes are not representative of the existing settlement; 
- Create a new street scene of the main village approach;
- Intrusion into the open countryside; 
- Backland development; 
- Opportunity to control, protect and potentially enhance the features of the historic environment;
- The barns to be demolished currently form part of the boundary to Manor Farm, what boundary 
treatment is proposed; 
- Location of proposed bin storage area; 
- If permission is granted, permitted development rights for extensions, roof alterations, garden 
buildings and the insertion of new windows should be conditioned;
- The new road in open countryside to access the site is not justified;
- The new road should be secure to prevent unauthorised access; 
- A separate access for agricultural machinery should be proposed;  
- Mud dragged onto the road by agricultural vehicles; 
- Future occupiers would overlook an existing animal enclosure and associated muck pile;
- Land use compatibility; plot 2 is situated adjacent to an active small holding for horses, sheep and 
chickens; 
- Overlooking and loss of privacy to garden serving Manor House; 
- The submitted Heritage Report incorrectly states that the farmhouse is no longer a farmhouse; 
- Position of soakaways; 
- Precedent; 
- In the future the current owner could erect new agricultural structures near to the existing village 
envelope; 
- Should the farm track have originally received planning permission; and
- Application form states 5 dwellings. 

5 Assessment of the planning issues

20



The main considerations are:

a) Principle of development
b) Minerals Safeguarding Area
c) Residential amenity
d) Access and highway implications 
e) Character of the area and impact on the Conservation Area
f) Impact on the Listed Building
g) Trees, landscape and ecology
h) Archaeology
i) Sustainability
j) Permitted Development "fall-back" position 
k) Developer contributions

a) Principle of Development
Sutton village is identified as a small village under Policy CS1 of the Peterborough Core Strategy 
DPD (2011). The principle of infill development of up to 9 dwellings within the village envelope is 
therefore considered to be acceptable, subject to the application being satisfactory in all other 
respects. 

The 2014 scheme proposed 5 dwellings. As part of this scheme three of the proposed dwellings 
(Plots 1, 3 and 4) were partly situated outside the village envelope, and proposed a 5m wide 
access road, a turning area and landscape buffer. 

This scheme has reduced the number of units from 5x dwellings to 2x dwellings. Part of Plot 2 and 
the shared outbuilding would be situated outside the village envelope in the region of 2m and 4m 
respectively, however the proposed access road has been reduced in width from 5m to 3.5m, the 
turning heard has been omitted and has been incorporated into the landscape buffer. 

The amount of encroachment into the open countryside by residential development is significantly 
less. Therefore Officers consider that the principle of residential development is acceptable in this 
instance, when balanced against the other aspects of the scheme (see the remainder of the 
report). 

The proposed layout would result in two dwellings situated in tandem and letters of representation 
have raised concern that the proposal constitutes backland development, however this proposal 
would be of a lower density to the previous scheme, of a more appropriate form, scale and 
appearance, and no objections have been raised by the Council’s Conservation Officer or the 
Parish Council. This is discussed further below. 

b) Mineral Safeguard Area
The part of the site situated outside the village envelope is within a Mineral Safeguarding Area 
(MSA) relating to underground resources of limestone, sand and gravel.  These areas are defined 
and allocated in order that proven mineral resources are not needlessly sterilised by non-mineral 
development.  Development proposals on land which is not otherwise allocated should be 
assessed against Policy CS26 of the Minerals and Waste Core Strategy.

The proposed dwellings would predominately be situated within the settlement boundary and the 
Local Planning Authority consider that it is very unlikely that mineral would be extracted right up to 
the edge of the village envelope and that a quarry buffer strip could abut the village envelope.  

It is considered that the dwellings would not form a very significant constraint to extraction of the 
mineral. Quarrying, although it can take several years, is temporary, and sites are always 
remediated after extraction. Impact on residential amenity has to be assessed taking this into 
account.  

Therefore, whilst Officers recognise the existence of the adjacent Mineral Safeguarding Area, the 

21



proposed development is of a lower density to the previously refused scheme and it is a relatively 
minor encroachment into the open countryside that would not form a significant constraint to the 
extraction of minerals in the future. 

c) Residential amenity of existing and future occupiers. 
New Dwellings
Manor Farm, adjacent to the application site, is used for various activities including the keeping of 
horses, chickens and sometimes, according to the occupants, foals and sheep.  As a consequence 
of keeping the livestock, there is a requirement for a muck heap.  This is located just within the 
boundary at Manor Farm, about 10m from the rear of proposed Plot 2. 

These existing, legitimate activities at Manor Farm may cause noise and disturbance, including 
smells, of a type that maybe unacceptable to residents of the proposed houses.  If new residents 
complained about this, and the complaint was upheld as a Nuisance by the Pollution Control 
section, the occupants at Manor Farm could be required to cease their activities.  

It is therefore important not to allow a development that would be certain to prejudice an existing, 
otherwise harmless, use. However, it is the view of the Planning Authority that people considering 
buying the new dwellings could decide for themselves whether to live there, and on the edge of a 
village next to the Manor Farm, future occupants should reasonably expect to experience noises 
and smells, on a day-to-day basis, that would be associated with a farm yard use. 

Policy PP4 sets out that new dwellings must provide for adequate internal space, adequate light, 
privacy and noise attenuation, good quality private amenity space and well-designed bin storage. 
The proposed development either shows, or could easily include good levels of amenity for future 
occupants.  

Window-to-window separation distances between the house at Manor Farm and the nearest 
proposed dwelling (Unit 2) is at least 45m, which ensures adequate privacy. The proposed 
dwellings are large, and laid out to allow for good light penetration and no unacceptable mutual 
overlooking or overshadowing.  Amenity space is adequate.  Refuse bin storage would be located 
within the central single storey building at the eastern end. 

A bin collection point shall be provided at the entrance to the site, screened by wattle fencing and a 
native hedge. It is recognised that this is some distance to drag bins on collection days, however it 
is not considered reasonable to design the access road to cater for a refuse collection vehicle, as 
this would result in a large, over engineered access wholly out of keeping with this rural area. This 
bin collection point shall be secured by planning condition should permission be granted. 

In this respect, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with Policy PP4.

Existing Dwellings
Plot 1 proposes two west facing windows situated at first floor, which serve a bedroom (Bed-2). 
There would be a separation distance of 50m between these windows and the rear wall of Manor 
Farm, which is considered to be an acceptable separation distance. There is a one and a half 
storey element that would be sited slightly closer, however there are no facing openings. Were 
planning permission granted, as this is a side facing first floor elevation, planning permission would 
be required to install a window that was clear glazed and openable. 

Plot 2 proposes a first floor west facing window situated at first floor, which serves an en-suite. 
There would be a separation distance of 45m between this window and the rear wall of Manor 
Farm, which is considered to be an acceptable separation distance. Notwithstanding this, this 
window would be conditioned to be obscure glazed, affixed shut with the exception of a top 
opening vented window only. 

An objection has been received with respect to overlooking of the private garden at Manor Farm. 
The main private amenity space for Manor Farm is considered to be the garden area situated to 

22



the immediate north of the property however it is recognised that this property benefits from a large 
and generous garden, and has done for a number of years. The nearest property is Plot 1, which 
has two first floor west facing windows serving Bed-2. There would be a distance of 23m between 
these first floor windows and the boundary to Manor Farm, which is considered to be an 
acceptable separation distance. Further, Bed-2 has a single east facing opening window therefore 
this would not be the only outlook from this principal room. 

Given the separation distances involved and intervening boundary treatments and outbuildings the 
proposed dwellings would not result in a significant adverse impact on existing residents by way of 
overshadowing, loss of light, privacy, overbearing impact or noise.

In this respect, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with Policy PP3.

d) Access and highway implications 
The Local Highway Authority (LHA) have raised no objection to the proposal, advising that a small-
scale S278 Agreement would need to be entered into to remove the redundant access and 
reinstate the verge. The LHA have also advised that the boundary wall may cause an obstruction 
to the vehicle to vehicle visibility splay, and that the wall be constructed so that it runs along the 
back of the splay. 

An amended plan has been received which illustrates satisfactory vehicle to vehicle visibility 
splays, however the pedestrian visibility splays need to be correctly drawn. This matter can be 
secured by planning condition.

The LHA have concluded no objection subject to securing conditions with respect to the provision 
and retention of parking and turning, temporary facilities during construction, access construction 
and access closure, visibility splays, positioning of gates and provision of wheel cleansing.

A bin collection point would be created adjacent to the proposed shared access which would 
preclude the need for refuse collection vehicles to enter the site. 

Concerns expressed by neighbours that the access road might be designed to lead to further 
development on adjoining land are understandable, but given the existing policy context and site 
constraints this is extremely unlikely to be permitted. In any case, the future possibility could not be 
used as a reason to resist this application. However, a suitable gate would be secured by planning 
condition to ensure that this did not become a throughout route. 

Comments have also been made with respect to agricultural vehicles using the new road, with 
respect to dragging mud onto this road, and Nene Way. Mud on roads in agricultural areas is not 
surprising, and it is for drivers to drive according to the conditions.  

Subject to the conditions set out above the proposed development is considered to accord with 
Policies PP12 and PP13 of the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012).  

e) Character of the area and impact on the Conservation Area
The Sutton Conservation area boundary includes much of the built form of the settlement.  It is a 
compact settlement arranged around four connecting roads said to reflect a typical Anglo-Saxon 
settlement with a central rectangular stockade bordered by tracks and stone walls.  Most buildings 
date from the mid-20th c onwards.  Generally plots are a generous size with large buildings and 
building heights are varied. All buildings are built of natural or manufactured limestone. Traditional 
dry stone walls border the approaches to the village and are positive features within the 
conservation area.

Manor Farm is on the corner of Nene Way and Manor Road.  Existing plots on Manor Road, to the 
south of the application site, are typically about 2,000 sq. m; these are generally although not 
exclusively the larger plots in the village.  There are some small plots in the village, reducing to just 
under 500 sq.m, although these smaller plots are generally associated with the older small semi-

23



detached farm workers cottages.  

The Conservation Area includes all of the village, with the exception of the agricultural buildings 
and associated yard area on the application site.  National planning policy and guidance requires 
that the character of Conservation Areas should be given great weight in making planning 
decisions, and that harm can only be justified if it would be outweighed by public benefits.

The character of the area immediately adjacent the application site is open countryside on one 
side, and Manor Farm to the other.  Running south from the south-west of the site are large plots 
with detached houses on Manor Road.  Dwellings on Manor Road, to the south of the application 
site, face west to the road, and the east boundaries of these plots are to the open countryside.  On 
approaching the village from the east views across to these dwellings are currently interrupted by 
boundary planting, both to the plots and the field boundary at the road verge, and by the bulk of the 
agricultural buildings.  

The proposed development is for the erection of 2x dwellings where there is currently a group of 
agricultural buildings of differing shapes, size and materials, all of which are not in a great state of 
repair.  

- Plot 1 would have a plot size of circa 1500sqm. It would have an L shaped layout with a 
floor area of 21m x 18m proposing to stand at 5.7m to eaves and 9.8m to ridge. 

- Plot 2 would have a plot size of circa 1200sqm. It would have an L shaped layout with a 
floor area of 21m x 18m proposing to stand at 4.8m to eaves and 8.6m to ridge. 

Both dwellings would be constructed out of coursed natural limestone, bradstone conservation roof 
slate and timber openings. The shared outbuilding would have a floor area of 27.5m x 6m 
proposing to stand at 2.4m to eaves and 5.5m to ridge, also constructed out of coursed natural 
limestone utilising natural clay (red or yellow) single roll pantiles. 

English Heritage have been consulted on the application and have no comments to make other 
than the application should be determined in accordance with national and local policy guidance, 
on the basis of PCC's specialist conservation advice. The Council's Conservation Officer has 
raised no objection to the proposal. The approach to the village from the east along Nene Way is 
marred by the visual presence of the agricultural buildings. The removal of the buildings would 
greatly improve the entrance to the village, the conservation area and better reveal the view and 
appreciation of the listed Manor House.  

It is considered that the form and design of the development would enhance this edge of village 
location. Building form, detailing and materials, including frontage boundary walls to Nene Road 
and hedge and tree planting to the eastern boundary are appropriate and in keeping with the 
character of the village. Overall, the removal of the existing redundant farm buildings and the 
proposed development will enhance the arrival in the village and so preserve the special interest of 
the adjacent conservation area.

Subject to conditions securing details of hard and soft landscaping, building materials and 
boundary treatments the proposal would accord with Policy CS16 and CS17 of the Peterborough 
Policies DPD (2011), PP2 and PP17 of the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012) and Section 72 of 
the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

f) Impact on the Listed Building
Manor House/Manor Farm is a Grade II listed building. It dates to about 1700, restored about 1900. 
It is a large two storey stone building, with Collyweston roofs, H-shaped with accommodation in the 
attics. The building occupies a prominent position, and the roofscape is visible through the farm 
buildings on approaching the village. The single storey buildings within the site reflect the historic 
agricultural function of the site.

24



The significance of the listed building is derived from its age, large plan form, scale, traditional 
materials and its position in the street.  Good views of the listed building are obtained from the 
junction of Manor Road and Nene Way, and of the western elevation from Nene Way across the 
open paddock to the west. Immediate views of the formal west elevation are gained along Graeme 
Road approaching from the south. The building makes a positive contribution to the conservation 
area when viewed from a number of vantage points. 

Views of the building from the west provide a pleasant appreciation of the building.  However, they 
are tempered by the portal frame buildings in the background. These buildings range in ridge 
height from 5.8m to 9m. The tall grain dryer can be seen across the front garden of the Manor 
House and the larger portal frame buildings can be seen across the parking area to the rear of the 
house and also at the back of the outbuildings on Manor Road.  From the east the roof scape of 
Manor House can be seen between the portal buildings, but otherwise they restrict views of the 
listed building on this approach to the village. Although these buildings have a relationship with the 
past agricultural activity of Manor House they detract somewhat from the setting of the building by 
their scale and prominence.

The proposed dwellings would be visible in views from Nene Way and from the junction of Nene 
Way / Manor Road on par with the height of the grain drier, and taller than the large portal building 
ridge. Parts of dwelling 2 would also be visible in near views along the driveway to Manor House 
off Manor Road. Approaching from the east views of Manor Farm across the field would be 
provided between both dwellings.  

There will be some change to the skyline to the east of Manor House as a result of this 
development. It is considered that the buildings will be less prominent on the eye of the viewer than 
the current back drop to views of the Manor House. 

Given the form, scale and materials of the proposed buildings it is considered that the development 
would improve the setting of the listed building compared to the existing situation. 

As such the proposal is considered to accord with Policy CS16 and CS17 of the Peterborough 
Policies DPD (2011), PP2 and PP17 of the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012) and Section 66 of 
the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

g) Biodiversity 
The site was surveyed in 2013 and this report has been subsequently updated this year, which has 
confirmed little overall change to the site habitats. Provided the mitigation and enhancement 
measures relating to nesting birds, reptiles, hedgehogs as well as landscaping and lighting 
measures set out in Section 6 of the 2013 Ecology Report can be conditioned, the Councils Wildlife 
Officer has raised no objection. Of particular relevance to building design is the requirement to 
provide swallow nesting features in the new buildings to include an approx. 3ft overhang to which 
swallow nest cups should be installed. This is because existing swallow nest sites would be lost 
with the demolition of the existing buildings. 

The updated report did identify that care should be taken during site clearance works near the wall 
of railway sleepers where rabbit burrows are currently present to avoid accidental killing or harming 
of animals. This shall also be secured by planning condition. 

An Arboricultural Survey was previously submitted and assessed. The majority of the trees are of 
low value/quality. The site layout plan is appropriate in respect of retained trees and conditions are 
recommended to secure tree protection to retained trees, and new landscaping.

The part of the site outside the village envelope is just within the Nene Valley, as defined on the 
Planning Proposals Map, and covered by Policy PP15.  The policy is supportive of development 
that would safeguard and enhance biodiversity and appropriate use of the river.  Given that this 
designation covers a very small part of the application site, and that the designation does not go 
beyond the north or west site boundaries, it is not considered that the policy applies to the 

25



proposal.

A comment was previously raised with respect to the nearby County Wildlife Sites, and another 
comment about birds and bats using the structures.  The site is not within or adjacent to a County 
Wildlife Site.

Subject to conditions with respect to biodiversity enhancement and tree protection the 
development would accord with Policy PP16 of the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012). 

h) Archaeology
The Council's Archaeology Officer has advised that records show a dearth of finds within a 250m 
radius although, historically, the place name would suggest a possible medieval/post-medieval 
origin for the farm. Cartographic evidence shows that the part of the site to be affected by 
redevelopment is relatively modern. In addition, most of the area is currently occupied by farm 
buildings the foundation of which are likely to have caused extensive damage. There is therefore 
insufficient evidence to justify a programme of archaeological work. However, given the historic 
origin of the site the applicant should report any remains/finds exposed during groundwork 
operations. A note to applicant shall be attached for the avoidance of doubt. 

i) Environmental Capital  
In the interests of new development contributing towards the Council's aspiration to become 
Environment Capital of the UK a condition shall be attached with respect to ensuring the 
development be constructed so that it achieves a Target Emission Ratio of at least 10% better than 
building regulations at the time of building regulation approval being sought; it will therefore accord 
with Policy CS10 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011).  

j) Permitted Development "fall-back" position 
Under Permitted Development regulations, agricultural buildings can, subject to a Prior Notification 
procedure, be changed to use classes A1, A2, A3, B1, B8, C1 and D2; a school or nursery; or 
residential development. There are various floor space restrictions in place. There is a limit of 450 
sq. m cumulative floor space for change of use to dwellings, and a maximum of three dwellings can 
be created out of converted agricultural buildings.  

Where applications for prior notification are made the Local Planning Authority would determine 
that the development accords with the provisions of the Permitted Development regulations, 
however the Local Planning Authority can only consider impact on Highways, flood risk and 
contamination, as well as whether the location or siting of the building makes it impractical or 
undesirable for it to change from agricultural to residential.

Given this, the applicant could, in theory, convert three of the agricultural buildings to 
dwellinghouses. However, most of the buildings on the site would not be suitable for residential 
conversion. The layout of the buildings is not likely to result in such a change that would offer 
reasonable levels of residential amenity, or dwellings that would be readily marketable.  Although 
this is not something that the Planning Authority can adjudicate on, it does mean that the available 
fall-back position is unlikely to be implemented. The Planning Authority is entitled to take the view 
that this unlikelihood means that the fall-back position need not be given significant weight.

k) Developer contributions
Any infrastructure contribution will automatically be caught by the Community Infrastructure Levy, 
therefore a Section 106 legal agreement is not required in this instance. 

Other Matters 
- A letter of representation has advised that Sutton has historically been subject to a number 

of crimes in relation to heating oil theft, some of which were repeat crimes. The Police 
Architectural Team have done a huge amount of awareness in this village and many others 
also targeted; winter 2015 crime was reduced from 44 offences to just 2, and none of those 
were in Sutton. Sutton is very low on crime. Notwithstanding this it is considered 

26



reasonable and necessary to control vehicle access south of the application site. 

- Building Control have advised if Plot 2 is situated in excess of 45m from the road, suitable 
access for a fire engine will need to be provided. The proposed access road is 3.5m which 
is considered capable of accommodating a fire engine in an emergency. 

- A letter of representation has raised concern of soakaways, however this is a building 
control matter and would be handled separately to the planning application process.

- A letter of representation previously advised that the Applicant could at a later date apply 
for new agricultural buildings. Should the Applicant seek to erect a new agricultural 
building(s) in the future they would be required to submit either a Prior Notification 
application or apply for planning permission. This would be assessed against relevant 
National and Local Policy. 

- A letter of representation has queried whether the original farm track should have received 
planning permission. The track appears to have been in place for a considerable period of 
time; in excess of 10 years. Nonetheless an agricultural track does not require planning 
permission; a road however would need consent.

6 Conclusions

The proposal is, on balance, considered to be acceptable having been assessed in light of all 
material considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of the development plan and 
for the specific reasons given below:

- The principle of residential development, the loss of the agricultural buildings and a small 
encroachment into the open countryside is acceptable in this instance; 

- On balance, the impact on the Minerals Safeguarding Area would not justify a reason for 
refusal of the application; and is less intrusive than the previous 2014 scheme; 

- The proposed dwellings are large and laid out to allow for good light penetration and no 
unacceptable mutual overlooking or overshadowing.  Amenity space is adequate. Whilst 
the noise and smells associated with the farmyard/small holding use at the Manor Farm 
would be unacceptable to some people, it is considered that people buying the new 
dwellings could decide for themselves whether to live there

- The separation distances would make unlikely any unacceptable impact on existing 
residents (Manor Farm) by way of overshadowing, overbearing impact or noise.

- It is considered that satisfactory access to the site and parking could be provided, and is in 
accordance with Policies PP12 and PP13. 

- The proposed dwelling and removal of the existing agricultural buildings would preserve 
and enhance the setting of the Conservation Area and would not have a harmful impact on 
the significance of the adjacent Grade 2 listed building; 

- The impact on trees, ecology and archaeology is considered to be acceptable, subject to 
conditions

- The fall-back position for conversion of the exiting agricultural buildings to dwellings, as set 
out in the report, is unlikely to happen and is therefore afforded little weight in the Planning 
Authority's decision making

7 Recommendation

The Director of Growth and Regeneration recommends that Planning Permission is GRANTED 
subject to the following conditions:

C 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 
the date of this permission.

27



Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended).

 
C 2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

drawings:

- Location Plan 
- Drawing 1 - Dwelling 1 
- Drawing 2A - Dwelling 2
- Drawing 3 - Proposed site plan and garages
- 3260-02 Rev A 

Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt.
 
C 3 No work shall take place on the application site (including soil stripping, preconstruction 

delivery of Equipment or materials, the creation of site accesses, positioning of site huts) 
until a Method Statement and/or Tree Protection Plan (to BS5837:2012 Trees in relation to 
design demolition and construction - Recommendations methodology) has been submitted 
to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  The Statement and/or Plan shall 
identify (not exclusively) the following:

- Location and specification of protective tree measures in addition to appropriate 
ground protection within the Root Protection Areas of all retained trees within 
influencing distance of the application site;

- Details of all Root Protection Area infringement during the construction and 
landscaping phases with details on how the impact will be minimised;

- Details of facilitation pruning;
- Location of access, material storage, site office, mixing of cement, welfare facilities 

etc.; and
- Specification of landscaping prescriptions (including fencing/walls and changes in 

soil level) within the Root Protection Area of retained trees.

The scheme shall be implemented strictly in accordance with the agreed and prior to the 
commencement of works within the site.  

Reason: In order to protect and safeguard the amenities of the area, in accordance with 
Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies PP2 and PP14 of 
the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 
C 4 No development shall take place until a Construction Management Plan has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The Plan shall 
include:

- Hours of construction;
- Areas for the parking, turning, loading and unloading of all vehicles visiting the site 

during the period of construction;
- Materials storage;
- Site welfare compound;
- Wheel washing facilities, which all vehicles shall use when exiting the site onto the 

public highway; and
- Measures to prevent the emission of dust from the site.  

Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  

Reason: In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy CS14 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP12 of the Peterborough Planning 
Policies DPD (2012). 

28



 
C 5 The dwellings shall not be occupied until the areas shown as parking on the approved plan 

have been drained and surfaced in accordance with details submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority, and that area shall not thereafter be used for any 
purpose other than the parking of vehicles, in connection with the use of the dwellings.

Reason: In the interest of Highway safety, and to accord with Policies PP12 and PP13 of 
the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012). 

 
C 6 No dwelling shall be occupied until space has been laid out within the site in accordance 

with the approved plan for vehicles to turn so that they may enter and leave the site in 
forward gear, and that area shall not thereafter be used for any purpose other than the 
turning of vehicles.

Reason: In the interest of Highway safety, and to accord with Policies PP12 and PP13 of 
the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012). 

 
C 7 The dwellings shall not be occupied until a means of vehicular access has been 

constructed in accordance with the approved plans.

Reason: In the interest of Highway safety, and to accord with Policies PP12 and PP13 of 
the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012). 

 
C 8 Visibility splays clear of any obstruction over a height of 600mm above verge level shall be 

provided on either side of the junction of the proposed access road with the public highway. 
The minimum dimensions to provide the required splay lines shall be 2.4m measured along 
the centre line of the proposed access road from its junction with the channel line of the 
public highway, and 43m (to the west) and 120m (to the east) measured along the channel 
line of the public highway from the centre line of the proposed access road. (N.B. The 
channel line comprises the edge of the carriageway or the line of the face of the kerbs on 
the side of the existing highway nearest the new access).

Reason: In the interest of Highway safety, and to accord with Policies PP12 and PP13 of 
the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012). 

 
C 9 The existing western access to Nene Way shall be permanently closed to vehicular traffic 

before the dwellings are occupied. Details of the means of closure shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before development is commenced.

Reason: In the interest of Highway safety, and to accord with Policies PP12 and PP13 of 
the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012). 

 
C10 If gates are to be installed to the vehicular access, they shall be set back by a minimum of 

6m from the highway boundary. 

Reason: In the interest of Highway safety, and to accord with Policies PP12 and PP13 of 
the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012). 

 
C11 Details of a gate that will restrict vehicle access beyond the southern end of the application 

site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Thereafter the approved gate shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details 
and thereafter retained and maintained in perpetuity.

Reason: In the interest of ensuring that the access does not become a through route and in 
the interest of crime prevention, in accordance with Policies CS16 of the Peterborough 
Core Strategy DPD (2012) and PP12 of the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012).

 

29



C12 No development shall take place until details of the following materials have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:  

- Walling and roofing materials (including samples)
- Doors and windows, including garage doors and rooflights
- Canopies and chimneys
- Rainwater goods.

The details submitted for approval shall include the name of the manufacturer, the product 
type, colour (using BS4800) and reference number. The development shall not be carried 
out except in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: For the Local Planning Authority to ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in 
accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy 
PP2 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 
C13 Prior to the commencement of development, a scheme of foul and surface water drainage 

shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme 
shall include sustainable disposal of surface water.  The scheme shall be implemented in 
full prior to any occupation of the dwellings.

Reason: To ensure that surface water and foul sewage are adequately dealt with, in 
accordance with Policy CS22 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011).  

 
C14 No dwelling hereby permitted shall be occupied until a scheme for the hard and soft 

landscaping of the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall include the following details:

- Proposed finished ground and building slab levels;
- Planting plans all public areas including retained trees, species, numbers, size and 

density of planting;
- Boundary treatments; 
- Hard surfacing materials; 
- External lighting; and
-          Bin collection point for collection days. 

Development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted details and at the 
following times: 

- Hard landscaping (boundary treatments, hard surfacing, external lighting and bin 
collection point) shall be provided prior to first occupation of the dwelling to which it 
relates; and

- Soft landscaping shall be carried out no later than the first planting season following 
the occupation of the dwelling to which it relates. 

Reason:  In the interests of the visual appearance of the development and to mitigate the 
loss of trees within the site, in accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core 
Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies PP2 and PP16 of the Peterborough Planning Policies 
DPD (2012).

 
C15 Any trees, shrubs or hedges forming part of the approved landscaping scheme that die, are 

removed or become diseased within five years of the implementation of the landscaping 
scheme shall be replaced during the next available planting season by the developers, or 
their successors in title with an equivalent size, number and species to those being 
replaced. Any replacement trees, shrubs or hedgerows dying within five years of planting 
shall themselves be replaced with an equivalent size, number and species. 

30



Reason:  In the interests of the visual appearance of the development and to mitigate the 
loss of trees within the site, in accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core 
Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies PP2 and PP16 of the Peterborough Planning Policies 
DPD (2012). 

C16 If, during development, contamination not previously considered is identified, then the Local 
Planning Authority shall be notified immediately and no further work shall be carried out 
until a method statement detailing a scheme for dealing with the suspect contamination has 
been submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  The 
development shall thereafter not be carried out except in complete accordance with the 
approved scheme.

Reason: To ensure all contamination within the site is dealt with in accordance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework, in particular paragraphs 120 and 121 and Policy 
PP20 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 
C17 Before the residential dwellinghouse shown on the submitted drawings as Plot 2 is first 

occupied, the proposed first floor west facing window serving en-suite to Bed-1 shall be 
obscure glazed to a minimum of Level 3 obscurity, and non-opening unless the parts of the 
window which can be opened are more than 1.7 metres above the floor of the room in 
which the window is installed. Thereafter, those windows shall be retained as such in 
perpetuity.   

Reason: In order to protect and safeguard the amenities of the adjoining occupiers, in 
accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy 
PP3 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 
C18 Notwithstanding the provisions of Part 2 Classes A and C of Schedule 2 of the Town and 

Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order 
revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification), no gates, fences, walls or 
other means of enclosure shall be constructed within the site, or the painting of any 
buildings, other than as those expressly authorised by any future planning permission. 

Reason:  In the interests of the amenity of the area and highway safety, in accordance with 
Policies CS14 and CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies PP2 
and PP12 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012). 

 
C19 The development hereby approved shall be constructed so that it achieves at least a 10% 

improvement on the Target Emission Rates set by the Building Regulations at the time of 
Building Regulations being approved for the development.

Reason: To accord with Policy CS10 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011).
 
C20 The development shall be carried out in accordance with Section 6 of the supporting 

Ecological Survey (Ecolocation 2013-07(21) and Rev A) with respect to nesting birds, 
reptiles, hedgehogs and works within the vicinity of and to the railway sleepers identified on 
site, as well as bats. The biodiversity enhancements, mitigation and recommendations shall 
be implemented prior to the occupation of the first dwelling to which they relate, or on 
completion of the development, whichever is sooner, and thereafter be retained and 
maintained in perpetuity where relevant. 

Reason: In the interest of protecting and enhancing the biodiversity value of the site, in 
accordance with Policy PP16 of the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012).

Copies to Councillor: D Lamb
 

31



This page is intentionally left blank

32



33



This page is intentionally left blank

34



Planning and EP Committee 5 July 2016 Item 2

Application Ref: 16/00497/HHFUL 

Proposal: Front porch and single storey rear extension

Site: 20 High Street, Glinton, Peterborough, PE6 7LS
Applicant: Mr Peter Smith

Agent: J J + J Hartley

Referred by: Glinton Parish Council
Reason: Size, scale, overdevelopment of the site and impact to the Conservation 

Area and to neighbour amenity 

Site visit: 11.04.2016

Case officer: Mr M A Thomson
Telephone No. 01733 453478
E-Mail: matt.thomson@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation: GRANT subject to relevant conditions  

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site Description
The Application site comprises a detached single storey dwelling set back from the road, providing 
three off-street parking spaces. No.22 High Street to South is a similar sized detached single 
storey dwelling with a detached single garage set back behind the dwelling. To the north (No. 18) 
is a detached two storey dwelling; all three properties are on a similar building line. There are a 
number of trees situated to the rear of the site. The application site is situated within the Glinton 
Conservation Area. 

Proposal
The Applicant seeks planning permission for the erection of a single storey rear extension and a 
front porch. 

Following negotiations with the Local Planning Authority amended plans have been received which 
have reduced the height of the proposed rear extension from 5.5m to ridge to 4.5m to ridge, with 
an eaves height of 2.4m. The proposed rear extension, which incorporates an existing extension, 
comprises a floor area of 7.6m x 5.1m. 

A porch is also proposed on the front elevation, which would have a floor area of 2.25m x 2.25m 
proposing to stand at 2.5m to eaves and 3.9m to ridge. 

Both extensions would be constructed out of matching materials.

2 Planning History

No relevant planning history

3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

35



Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990

Section 72 - General duty as respects conservation areas in exercise of planning functions. 
The Local Planning Authority has a statutory duty to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the Conservation Area or its setting, or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses.

Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)

CS16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm 
Design should be of high quality, appropriate to the site and area, improve the public realm, 
address vulnerability to crime, be accessible to all users and not result in any unacceptable impact 
upon the amenities of neighbouring residents.

CS17 - The Historic Environment 
Development should protect, conserve and enhance the historic environment including non-
scheduled nationally important features and buildings of local importance.

Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)

PP02 - Design Quality 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes a positive contribution to the built 
and natural environment; does not have a detrimental effect on the character of the area; is 
sufficiently robust to withstand/adapt to climate change; and is designed for longevity.

PP03 - Impacts of New Development 
Permission will not be granted for development which would result in an unacceptable loss of 
privacy, public and/or private green space or natural daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or 
other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to minimise opportunities for crime and disorder.

PP13 - Parking Standards 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all modes of transport is made 
in accordance with standards.

PP17 - Heritage Assets 
Development which would affect a heritage asset will be required to preserve and enhance the 
significance of the asset or its setting.  Development which would have detrimental impact will be 
refused unless there are overriding public benefits.

Peterborough Local Plan 2016 to 2036 (Preliminary Draft)
This document sets out the planning policies against which development will be assessed. It will 
bring together all the current Development Plan Documents into a single document. Consultation 
on this document runs from 15 January to 25 February 2016. 

At this preliminary stage the polices cannot be afforded any weight with the exception of the 
calculation relating to the five year land supply as this is based upon the updated Housing Needs 
Assessment and sites which have planning permission or which are subject to a current 
application. Individual policies are not therefore referred to further in this report.

4 Consultations/Representations

Glinton Parish Council (20.04.16)
The Parish Council object to the proposal due to the height and length of the extension, which is 
not considered to be in keeping with the Conservation Area or neighbouring properties, resulting in 
overdevelopment of the site. The site has already been extended and concerns are raised with the 
proximity of the extension to the shared boundary. 

36



Second Round
The Parish Council note the lower roofline however the footprint has not been reduced. The 
property has already been extended twice which taken together with this proposal results in 
overdevelopment of the site. The extension would have a detrimental impact on the neighbours 
views and amenity. Attention is drawn to the fact that the application site is within a conservation 
area. 

Notwithstanding the amended plans the Parish Council maintain that if Officers are minded to 
recommend approval that this application is referred to the Planning and Environmental Protection 
Committee.

PCC Conservation Officer (12.04.16)
No objection - With respect to the proposed front porch extension, the proposed size and 
appearance is not considered to detract from the character, appearance or significance of the 
wider Glinton Conservation Area or that of any listed building within the vicinity. 

With respect to the proposed rear extension this is a very large extension that will be prominent 
from the rear gardens of the two flanking properties. However, it will not be particularly prominent 
from the public realm due to the concealed nature of the site and therefore not significantly detract 
from the character and appearance of the Glinton Conservation area.

Local Residents/Interested Parties 

Initial consultations: 4
Total number of responses: 3
Total number of objections: 3
Total number in support: 0

Letters of representation have been received from the adjoining properties (No. 18 and 22 High 
Street) raising the following concerns; 

- Size and scale of the proposed extension doubles the length of the bungalow; 
- The site is situated within a conservation area;
- Proximity to the shared boundary; 
- Overbearing impact; 
- Loss of view of open space, land, trees and birds; 
- Loss of sunlight; 
- The property previously been extended; 
- Party Wall Act; 
- Proposal would result in the loss of day light; and
- Removal of a trees to facilitate works.

It has been suggested that a smaller, lower alternative would be in keeping with the environment.  

5 Assessment of the planning issues

Design and Layout  
Policies CS16 and PP2 seek to ensure any development would not have an adverse impact on the 
character of the area. Policy CS17 and PP17 seek to ensure that development respects the setting 
of heritage assets. 

Letters of representation have been received raising concern with the size and scale of the 
proposed extension, advising that it would double the length of the bungalow, that the property has 
been previously extended and that the site is situated within a Conservation Area. It is noted that 
the site is situated within a Conservation Area, however it is a question of whether the proposal 
would preserve or enhance the setting of the Conservation Area. 

37



The Councils' Conservation Officer has been consulted and noted the size of the proposal, 
however has raised no objection as the proposal would not be prominent from the public realm and 
therefore it would preserve the character and appearance of the Conservation Area and accord 
with Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990

Both the Case Officer and Conservation Officer note that the proposed single storey rear extension 
is large, and that the property has been previously extended, however the application site is large 
and is considered capable of accommodating the proposal without the plot looking over developed, 
therefore it is considered that the proposed rear extension is not considered to be out of keeping 
with the established context of the immediate area and would retain sufficient garden to serve the 
host building. 

The proposed porch is considered to be subservient in size and design and is accepted. 

Subject to the proposed extensions being constructed out of matching materials the proposal 
would accord with Policies CS16 and CS17 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and 
PP2 and PP17 of the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012). 

Neighbour Amenity 
Policy PP3 seeks to ensure that any development would not result in an unacceptable overbearing 
impact, loss of privacy, light, outlook or amenity. 

Letters of representation have raised concern that the proposal would have an overbearing impact 
to adjoining neighbours, and would result in a loss of view, of open space, sunlight, land, trees and 
birds. 

Further to the receipt of amended plans the ridge height has been reduced from 5.5m to 4.5m. The 
proposed single storey rear extension would be situated immediately adjacent to the southern 
boundary with No.22 High Street, a single storey dwelling with detached garage. This boundary is 
demarcated by a close board fence and hedge, and the garage serving No. 22 High Street is set 
behind this property, adjacent to the boundary. Whilst the proposed extension is large it stands at 
2.4m to eaves and given the juxtaposition of No. 22's garage and the intervening boundary 
treatments, the proposed extension would not result in a significant adverse loss of light, privacy or 
outlook to this property. 

In relation to the impact on No. 18, the neighbour to the north, the proposed extension would be 
10m south of the intervening boundary. Given this and the fact that the extension is single storey in 
height the proposed extension is not considered to harm the amenity of this property. 

Letters also raise concern with a loss of view of open space and impact on land, trees and birds. 
Whilst the extension may be visible and these properties do benefit from good levels of private 
amenity, as noted above, the proposed extension as amended is not considered to have an 
unacceptably adverse impact on the amenity of adjoining neighbours. There are mature trees 
situated at the end of the garden, however these would not be affected by the proposal, although 
some vegetation would be removed along the southern boundary to facilitate development. A 
standard nesting birds informative should therefore be attached. Any tree removal would require 
approval by the Council's Tree Officer as part of a tree application as the site is situated within the 
Conservation Area. 

Given the size and position of the porch extension this element is not considered to harm 
neighbour amenity. 

To conclude, therefore, the proposed extensions would not have an unacceptably adverse impact 
on neighbour amenity, and accords with Policies CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD 
(2011) and PP3 of the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012).  

A letter of representation has made reference to right to light, however this is a civil matter between 

38



the two parties.

Parking
The scheme would not introduce any additional bedrooms nor result in the loss of any parking 
spaces, therefore the scheme accords with Policy PP13 of the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012).

Other Matters
Party Wall Act - as the proposal would be constructed adjacent to the boundary the Applicant will 
need to accord with the Party Wall Act, which is separate to the planning process. 

6 Conclusions

Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal is acceptable having been 
assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of 
the development plan and specifically:

- The proposed extensions would not unacceptably harm the character or appearance of the 
host building or street scene, and would preserve the setting of the Conservation Area, and 
would accord with Policies CS16 and CS17 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2012) 
and Policies PP2 and PP17 of the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012); 

- The proposed extensions would not unacceptably harm the amenity of adjoining neighbours, 
and therefore accords with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2012) and 
PP3 of the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012); and

- The proposal would not result in a highway safety hazard and sufficient car parking can be 
provided thereby according with Policy PP13 of the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012).

7 Recommendation

The Director of Growth and Regeneration recommends that Planning Permission is GRANTED 
subject to the following conditions:

C 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 
the date of this permission.

Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended).

 
C 2 The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the extension 

hereby permitted shall match those used in the existing building.

Reason: For the Local Planning Authority to ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in 
accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy 
PP2 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 
C 3 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

approved plans: 

- 4491/1 - Existing floor plan, elevations and location plan, and proposed block plan 
- 4491/2A - Proposed floor plans and elevations 
- 4491/3A - Proposed elevations 

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper planning.

Copies to Councillors: P Hillier, J Holdich OBE
 

39



This page is intentionally left blank

40



41



This page is intentionally left blank

42



Planning and EP Committee 5 July 2016      Item 3

Application Ref: 16/00590/FUL 

Proposal: Proposed extensions to create new administration accommodation with 
theatre suite over with plant room in roof and associated link corridor, new 
first floor level modular construction theatre store and new single storey 
waiting area. Various internal remodelling works to restaurant, 
physiotherapy department and main reception waiting accommodation. 
External works to create additional parking bays

Site: Fitzwilliam Hospital, Milton Way, Bretton, Peterborough
Applicant: Ramsay Health Care UK Ltd

Agent: Hall Needham Associates LLP

Referred by: Councillor Coles 
Reason: Impact upon neighbour amenity, overdevelopment and parking issues 
Site visit: 21.04.2016

Case officer: Miss Louise Lovegrove
Telephone No. 01733 454439
E-Mail: louise.lovegrove@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation: GRANT subject to relevant conditions  

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site and Surroundings
The application site comprises the Fitzwilliam Hospital, a well-established private hospital.  It is 
located within a predominantly residential area, with the site bound to the north, east and west by 
residential dwellings.  To the south, the site is bound by Milton Park (included in the English 
Heritage Register of Parks and Gardens of Special Historic Interest) and the associated Grade I 
Listed Building of Milton Hall.  

The building within the site is largely single storey in height albeit there are some two and three 
storey elements to the south-eastern elevation.  It is set back within the site, located centrally with 
car parking to the north, east and west.  There is some soft landscaping around the site boundaries 
comprising a mixture of mature hedging and semi-mature trees albeit the southern boundary is 
formed by a mature tree belt.  It should be noted that the application site is subject to a 
considerable change in levels, with the slope running from north to south. 

Proposal
The application seeks planning permission for:
 the construction of a new three storey extension to the south-eastern elevation to form a new 

theatre suite at first floor with administrative office and 3no. consulting rooms at ground floor;
 the construction of a first floor modular extension within the internal courtyard of the building to 

provide a theatre store;
 the construction of a single storey extension to the south-eastern elevation to create an 

extended waiting room to the main entrance; and
 the creation of 18no. new parking spaces through additional hardstanding and consolidation of 

existing parking spaces.

It should be noted that the current application follows from the withdrawal of an identical application 
from 2015.  This earlier application was withdrawn at the request of Officers to enable the 

43



submission of additional traffic and parking information.

2 Planning History

Reference Proposal Decision Date
P0382/86 Single storey extension for physiotherapy 

department
Permitted 12/06/1986

P0001/87 Erection of extensions, layout of additional 
car parking and landscaping

Permitted 19/02/1987

P1582/88 Single and two storey extensions and car 
park

Permitted 20/04/1989

99/00856/FUL Use of grassland as car parking areas Permitted 17/09/1999
02/00862/FUL Single storey extension to create six offices Permitted 12/08/2002
08/00845/FUL Single storey entrance lobby to endoscopy 

suite
Permitted 25/09/2008

09/00237/FUL Additional car parking and re siting of 
clinical waste and bin store area

Permitted 25/06/2009

09/00823/FUL Single storey extension to south corner of 
existing hospital for enlarged reception and 
waiting area, retaining the MRI scanner in 
its original location (Revised Application)

Permitted 02/10/2009

09/01183/FUL Single storey extension to south corner of 
existing hospital for enlarged reception and 
waiting area, and ramped link to car park 
(revisions to previous approval of 
application 09/00823/FUL)

Permitted 24/11/2009

10/00533/FUL Construction of 3 storey 
administration/theatre extension, single 
storey radiology/MRI suite extension and 
other minor works

Withdrawn 
by Applicant 

15/06/2010

10/00952/FUL Proposed 3 storey administration/theatre 
recovery extension and single storey 
radiology extension and other minor works

Permitted 05/11/2010

11/00083/FUL First floor prefabricated portacabin linking to 
existing building and revised location for 
previously approved cycle shelter 
(10/00952/FUL)

Permitted 23/02/2011

11/01680/FUL Additional plant compound to undercroft of 
new 3 storey extension, minor window re-
position on theatre extension, minor 
revisions to roof of new extension 
(retrospective), enhanced noise attenuation 
measures to existing plant

Permitted 02/03/2012

12/01366/FUL Construction of single storey extension to 
provide MRI suite including link corridor to 
adjoining Radiology Department

Permitted 04/02/2013

13/01709/WCPP Variation of Condition 2 (Approved plans) of 
Planning Permission 12/01366/FUL - 
Construction of single storey extension to 
provide MRI suite including link corridor to 
adjoining Radiology Department

Permitted 09/01/2014

15/00483/FUL Additional car parking and rationalisation of 
some existing parking areas

Permitted 18/05/2015

44



15/01860/FUL New modular theatre, link and plant 
compound under including re-siting of 
disabled car parking spaces

Withdrawn 
by Applicant 

18/12/2015

3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990

Section 66 - General duty as respects listed buildings in exercise of planning functions
The Local Planning Authority has a statutory duty to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting, or any features of special architectural or historic interest 
which it possesses.

National Planning Policy Framework (2012)

Section 8 - Social, Cultural and Recreational Facilities 
Developments should plan for the provision and use of shared space, community services and 
other local services; guard against the unnecessary loss of valued services/facilities; allow 
established shops, facilities and services to develop/modernise; and ensure an integrated 
approach to the location of housing, economic uses and communities facilities and services.

Section 11 - Noise 
New development giving rise to unacceptable adverse noise impacts should be resisted; 
development should mitigate and reduce to a minimum other adverse impacts on health and 
quality of life arising. Development often creates some noise and existing businesses wanting to 
expand should not be unreasonably restricted because of changes in nearby land uses.

Section 4 - Assessment of Transport Implications 
Development which generates a significant amount of traffic should be supported by a Transport 
Statement/Transport Assessment.  It should be located to minimise the need to travel/to maximise 
the opportunities for sustainable travel and be supported by a Travel Plan. Large scale 
developments should include a mix of uses. A safe and suitable access should be provided and 
the transport network improved to mitigate the impact of the development.

Section 12 - Conservation of Heritage Assets 
Account should be taken of the desirability of sustaining/enhancing heritage assets; the positive 
contribution that they can make to sustainable communities including economic viability; and the 
desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness.  When considering the impact of a new development great weight should be given 
to the asset’s conservation.  

Planning permission should be refused for development which would lead to substantial harm to or 
total loss of significance unless this is necessary to achieve public benefits that outweigh the 
harm/loss.  In such cases all reasonable steps should be taken to ensure the new development will 
proceed after the harm/ loss has occurred.

Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)

CS14 - Transport 
Promotes a reduction in the need to travel, sustainable transport, the Council’s UK Environment 
Capital aspirations and development which would improve the quality of environments for 
residents.

45



CS16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm 
Design should be of high quality, appropriate to the site and area, improve the public realm, 
address vulnerability to crime, be accessible to all users and not result in any unacceptable impact 
upon the amenities of neighbouring residents.

CS17 - The Historic Environment 
Development should protect, conserve and enhance the historic environment including non-
scheduled nationally important features and buildings of local importance.

Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)

PP02 - Design Quality 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes a positive contribution to the built 
and natural environment; does not have a detrimental effect on the character of the area; is 
sufficiently robust to withstand/adapt to climate change; and is designed for longevity.

PP03 - Impacts of New Development 
Permission will not be granted for development which would result in an unacceptable loss of 
privacy, public and/or private green space or natural daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or 
other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to minimise opportunities for crime and disorder.

PP12 - The Transport Implications of Development 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate provision has been made for safe access by all user 
groups and there would not be any unacceptable impact on the transportation network including 
highway safety.

PP13 - Parking Standards 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all modes of transport is made 
in accordance with standards.

PP16 - The Landscaping and Biodiversity Implications of Development 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes provision for the retention of trees 
and natural features which contribute significantly to the local landscape or biodiversity.

PP17 - Heritage Assets 
Development which would affect a heritage asset will be required to preserve and enhance the 
significance of the asset or its setting.  Development which would have detrimental impact will be 
refused unless there are overriding public benefits.

Peterborough Local Plan 2016 to 2036 (Preliminary Draft)
This document sets out the planning policies against which development will be assessed. It will 
bring together all the current Development Plan Documents into a single document. Consultation 
on this document runs from 15 January to 25 February 2016. 

At this preliminary stage the polices cannot be afforded any weight with the exception of the 
calculation relating to the five year land supply as this is based upon the updated Housing Needs 
Assessment and sites which have planning permission or which are subject to a current 
application. Individual policies are not therefore referred to further in this report.

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010
Paragraphs 203-205 of the National Planning Policy Framework: Planning Conditions and 
Obligations:

Requests for planning obligations whether CIL is in place or not, are only lawful where they meet 
the following tests:-

(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
(b) directly related to the development; and 

46



(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

In addition obligations should be:
(i) relevant to planning;
(ii) reasonable in all other respects.

Planning permissions may not be bought or sold. Unacceptable development cannot be permitted 
because of benefits/inducements offered by a developer which are not necessary to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms. Neither can obligations be used purely as a means of 
securing for the local community a share in the profits of development.

4 Consultations/Representations

PCC Tree Officer (25.04.16)
No objections - With regards to the additional parking spaces proposed, tree loss is likely to be 
minimal and restricted to one or two low value trees.  The principal trees affected by the proposed 
extension are 4no. young Silver Birch.  The submitted drawings identify the planting of 4no. new 
trees of the same species.  Such planting should be secured by condition, with a 5 year 
establishment also secured.

The Woodland Trust 
No comments received.

Forestry Commission 
No comments received.

PCC Pollution Team (08.06.16)
No objections – Request a condition which limits the level of noise at the nearest dwelling to 
30dBA during daytime and 26dBA at night-time.  

Environment Agency (06.04.16)
No objections - The proposal has been assessed as having a relatively low environmental risk.

Garden History Society - Milton Park 
No comments received.

Historic England 
No comments received.

Cambridgeshire Gardens Trust 
No comments received.

PCC Conservation Officer (28.04.16)
No objections - Whilst the height of the proposal is marginally taller than the ridge of the main 
building, given its location and the landscape buffer to the west, it is considered that the 
development will not harm the character or setting of Milton Hall or Milton Park.  It is suggested 
that the Landscape Officer is asked whether additional boundary planting would assist in 
reinforcing that buffer screening.

Bretton Parish Council (14.04.16)
No objections - However the following comments are raised:

1. It seems that since the first plan was submitted in November 2015, a few trees have been 
removed to make way for the extra car parking spaces.

2. In the car parking demand study, it states that "the staff travel survey (September 2015) 
identified 62% of staff drive to work" but this assumes that all new staff will drive to work. 

3. Always erring on the up-side means that there is over-provision.  If parking is too easy, there is 

47



less inducement not to drive and so does not follow the transport plan.

PCC Wildlife Officer (15.04.16)
No objections - Whilst the site lies in close proximity to Milton Park County Wildlife Site, the 
proposal is unlikely to have an impact upon features for which this site has been designated.  The 
proposal does however involve the removal of vegetation which may support nesting birds.  An 
informative should be placed on any decision advising of the need to ensure no wild nesting birds 
are disturbed during the nesting season.  In terms of the proposed replacement planting, the 
species submitted appear acceptable and would ensure no net loss in biodiversity results.

The Wildlife Trusts (Cambridgeshire) (08.04.16)
No comments.

Natural England - Consultation Service (06.04.16)
No comments.

PCC Transport & Engineering Services (06.06.16)
No objections – The contents of the submitted Car Parking Demand Survey are accepted and it is 
considered that the proposal would provide adequate parking to meet the demands of the new 
development.  There is little scope for additional further development and it is requested that a 
review of on-site parking conditions take place after a period of 12 months.  Should this review 
highlight an overspill of parked vehicles on the adjacent public highway, the Applicant may be 
liable for the implementation of parking restrictions.  

Local Residents/Interested Parties 

Initial consultations: 20
Total number of responses: 13
Total number of objections: 7
Total number in support: 0

6no. objections have been received from local residents on the following grounds:
 In principle, the new City Hospital should provide everything needed for the area served.  This 

asks the strategic question, which you as planners should be asking: why does the City 
Hospital need 'public' services from this private sector operator? It does not make sense.  

 The proposed administrative and theatre suite are of three storey construction, to which we 
(occupant of Robin Hood Close) have previously objected.  The adjacent residential estate is 
based upon two storeys, as was the original hospital.  If a developer were to purchase a 
property and seek to re-build three storey apartments, no doubt it would be refused.  This 
application should also be refused on those grounds.

 The proposed administrative and theatre suite will project beyond the existing building line on 
the south-east elevation and the extension is therefore closer to our property (Robin Hood 
Close).  There seems to be no reason by the staircase in this projection should not all be 
constructed within the existing building line in a straight configuration, rather than parallel, 
which pushes it outside the building line and closer to us.  

 Part of the south-eastern extension is faced in matching brickwork whilst the staircase is clad 
in Western Cedar, altogether cheap and out of character.  We shall see it everyday (Robin 
Hood Close).

 Another extension to the hospital will need more car parking for the extra staff and visitors.  At 
present, even with recent additions, the accommodation for car parking is insufficient and 
there are many occasions when cars have been parked along Milton Way, on grass verges 
and down Robin Hood Close.  The last extension made no provision for sufficient additional 
parking and this proposal shall presumably go in some way to meeting the need but probably 
not far enough.

 Whilst the proposal seeks to provide more car parking for the hospital site, this is inadequate 
and further development will exacerbate the existing situation.  

 The roads surrounding the site are not suitable for parking because of the residential nature of 

48



the estate.  From personal observations, the safety of other road users and pedestrians is 
compromised.  

 If this application is approved, it should be stated that the parking of cars is restricted only to 
the hospital grounds.  

 The proposed plant room is of concern as no doubt there will be noise emanating from the 
building.  There does not appear to be any consideration for this because the submitted Noise 
Report is 4 years out of date.  If there is going to be noise from the plant, this will have further 
implications for residents of Nos.6 and 8 Robin Hood Close who are already plagued by noise 
from the existing plant.  

 The changes to the hospital, including the proposal, have resulted in an industrial complex, out 
of keeping with the locality.  This is development too far.

 Where does it end? Will the hospital keep building higher and higher, and increase our stress 
levels with a construction that is a predominate feature at the back of our homes (Robin Hood 
Close) bringing additional noise and activity. 

In addition, 4no. representations have been submitted neither objecting to nor supporting the 
proposal.  They have however raised the following points/queries:
 Residents of Milton Way are concerned at the increase in traffic over the past few years, 

mainly caused by the increase in patients attending the hospital.  The traffic survey undertaken 
does not appear to give the whole picture.  Thursday's appear to be the busiest days, with 
traffic parking in the road and on grass verges.  A further survey on this day would be 
appreciated, and would give a better idea of the problems that residents face.  

 There are concerns that the proposal would generate additional traffic that would end up 
parked on the street.

 Better traffic signage entering and leaving the car park would help direct drivers in the right 
direction.  'Dead-end' signage should be used on the lamppost after the turn to Sebreights 
Way, which was removed after the street lighting was renewed.  A sign would help deter traffic 
from having the use the cul-de-sac.  

 We would hope that the proposed large extension would not set a precedent for further large-
scale second floor extensions. 

 The hospital must be nearing its maximum size.  
 Insufficient public consultation has taken place which makes me wonder whether these 

applications are pushed through as silently as possible.  
 The proposed new 12no. parking spaces to the front of the building are in an area routinely 

occupied by the mobile MRI scanner.  Where will this vehicle be parked in future once the 
spaces are in operation?

 The key on the proposed plans refer to 'rationalised gravel parking spaces' but these do not 
appear to be shown?

Councillor Coles (comments submitted as Ward Councillor prior to the election) - I wish to support 
the objections raised by local residents who are concerned about the additional development on 
the hospital site.  In summary, my objections are:
1. The additional extension will be an unacceptable intrusion into the character of the local area, 

which is otherwise entirely residential.  The additional height of the extension will risk private 
back gardens being overlooked, to the detriment of the occupants enjoyment of their privacy.  I 
am told that previous plans to build to three storeys were refused.  

2. The proposed use of timber on the outside of the building is out of character with the current 
building and surrounding properties. 

3. There is already some sound intrusion from plant on the site which causes a disturbance to 
residents and has not been adequately ameliorated.  The additional plant room is likely to 
increase the sound pollution to local houses. 

4. The plan proposes some additional parking but the current reality is that parking regularly 
overspills from the hospital site into local streets.  Any growth will inevitably bring further traffic 
congestion to the area.  The local public transport service is inadequate to meet the transport 
needs of users and there is insufficient space within the site to increase parking to meet 
current demand, let alone demand following further building. 

49



5. The hospital was originally a small private facility that local residents supported.  Since then, 
the nature of the hospital has increased beyond reasonable expectations with growth largely 
resulting from NHS patients with elective surgery undertaken through contracted-out services.  
The new PDH site has unused operating facilities on the top floor.  If these were brought into 
use, this would be a far more sustainable use of resources than using the application site.

5 Assessment of the planning issues

The main considerations are:
 Principle of development
 Design and impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area
 Parking and highway implications
 Neighbour amenity
 Impact upon designated heritage assets
 Trees

a) Principle of development
Paragraph 70 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012) places significant weight on 
the need for planning decisions to plan positively for the provision of local services to enhance 
the sustainability of communities.  The proposal seeks to expand the services and facilities of 
Fitzwilliam Hospital through the provision of a new theatre suite with associated consulting 
rooms, administrative office, storage and plant room.  The proposal would therefore increase 
the provision of healthcare facilities on the site, serving the needs of the wider community.  
Whilst it is noted that the application site is a private hospital, it provides services for all users 
of the National Health Service through the undertaking of elective surgery.  On this basis, it is 
considered that the proposal would represent a community benefit through increased 
healthcare services.

It is noted that objections have been received with regards to the lack of need for the proposal 
owing to the unused facilities at the nearby Peterborough District Hospital (PDH) site.  
Furthermore, there are concerns that the proposal should be refused owing to the lack of 
strategic overview of healthcare services, which should all be provided at the PDH site.  These 
concerns are noted however the structure for providing healthcare facilities is not a material 
planning consideration and therefore cannot be taken into account.  

b) Design and impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area
The proposal seeks the construction of three separate extensions to the existing hospital 
buildings.  The largest of these is the proposed three storey extension to the south-eastern 
elevation which would provide a new theatre suite, consulting rooms, administrative office and 
plant room.  This element of the proposal would extend to a maximum height of 11.5 metres to 
ridge and be sited to the southern edge of an existing two and three storey part of the building.  
The proposal would project beyond the facing elevation of the existing building by 
approximately 1.6 metres by virtue of the proposed projecting gable which would contain the 
stairwell to the extension.  The facing elevations of this extension would be blank, with no 
facing windows.  Furthermore, it is proposed for the external walls to be finished in matching 
brick and roof tiles with the exception of the projecting gable, which is proposed to be finished 
in vertical cedar cladding.  

It is considered that the design, size and height of this extension both respects and reflects the 
character and appearance of the host building. There has been some objection from local 
residents expressing concern with regards to the scale of the proposal and its intended 
materials.  However, the overall height and massing of the proposal would mirror a similar 
extension to the same elevation which was granted permission under application reference 
10/00925/FUL.  It is not considered that the proposal or resultant building as a whole would 
appear unduly dominant or obtrusive, and would not unacceptably harm the character, 
appearance or visual amenity of the surrounding area.  

50



With regards to the proposed first floor modular extension, this would be fully enclosed within 
an existing courtyard which is situated centrally within the confines of the existing building.  
Accordingly, it would not be visible from the public realm and would therefore not have any 
impact upon the character and appearance of the locality.  

In terms of the proposed single storey extension, it is considered that this represents a natural 
extension to the existing building.  The proposal is intended to be of fully glazed design, 
continuing the same elevation treatment as the existing entrance adjacent to which it would be 
sited.  The extension would effectively create a larger entrance atrium to the hospital, 
maintaining the proportions and height of the existing.  Accordingly, it is considered that this 
would not materially alter the overall appearance of the site.  

In light of the above, it is considered that the proposal would not result in an unacceptable 
impact to the character, appearance or visual amenity of the surrounding area and is therefore 
in accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy 
PP2 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

c) Parking and highway implications
All of the objections received from local residents, including the former Ward Councillor, have 
expressed concerns with regards to the level of parking provided within the site and on-street 
parking congestion which results from the existing hospital.  These concerns are noted and it 
is acknowledged that at peak times there is considerable overspill parking on the surrounding 
residential street of Milton Way in particular.  However, the planning system can only require 
new development to mitigate the impacts that it would generate and as such, only the parking 
impact of the current proposal may be considered and addressed as part of this application.  

The proposal would principally result in the construction of a new operating theatre, with the 
other facilities all considered to be ancillary to this.  Initially, the Local Highway Authority (LHA) 
were concerned that there would be insufficient on-site parking facilities to accommodate the 
additional patient and staff parking demand generated.  In response to this, a Car Parking 
Demand Survey was undertaken which predicts future parking demand generated by the 
additional theatre.  The predictions are based upon historical trends, developments and 
assessment of current referral rates according to different specialities.  This survey forecasts 
that the new operating theatre and associated facilities would generate a maximum additional 
parking demand of between 153 and 176 spaces (in combination with the demand generated 
by the existing hospital).  The LHA has accepted this prediction as the methodology and data 
used to compile it are considered robust.  

The proposal seeks to provide a total number of 184 parking spaces, which includes the 
consolidation of some existing parking areas to increase provision, and new hardstanding to 
create additional spaces.  At present, the site has a total of 157 parking spaces and therefore, 
the proposal seeks an increase of 27 spaces.  Based upon the Car Parking Demand Survey, 
the LHA has raised no objections to the proposal and considers that this level of parking would 
be sufficient.  However, the LHA has also highlighted that there is very little scope for further 
development on the site and that the level of proposed parking would only just, in their opinion, 
cover the predicted future demand.  As such, there is a request that the Developer be required 
to undertake a review of on and off-site parking conditions both before construction of the 
development and after a period of 12 months following first use of the new theatre.  This 
review would be intended to assess whether any unacceptable levels of on-street parking 
were taking place above and beyond existing levels and, in such an event of increased 
dangerous parking, there would be a requirement for the imposition of parking restrictions (in 
the form of a Traffic Regulation Order) within the surrounding residential streets.  As this 
requires a potential financial contribution, the only means through which this could be secured 
are within a Section 106 legal agreement.  This would be secured following the Committee 
Meeting in the event that Member's resolve to approve the application.  

It is noted that a query has been raised with regards to the current siting of a mobile CT 

51



scanner vehicle within the area to the front of the main building which is intended to create 
additional parking spaces.  The Applicant has confirmed that it is intended for this vehicle to 
continue to visit the site on a twice weekly basis and that it would continue to be sited in the 
same location.  This would therefore occupy up to 7 spaces and, twice weekly, reduce the 
level of parking provision within the site to 177 spaces.  However, this would still broadly meet 
with the predicted parking demand.  It is therefore considered that this would not unacceptably 
reduce the level of parking provision within the site and the proposal would still meet the 
parking demands generated.  

During the period of construction, there is some concern with regards to the position and siting 
of the construction compound/contractor parking and the impact that this may have upon the 
parking available for staff, patients and visitors.  As such, it is considered necessary to impose 
a condition requiring the submission of a detailed Construction Management Plan which will 
need to be adhered to throughout the period of construction.  

On the basis of the above, it is considered that the parking demand generated by the proposal 
would be met and, subject to review, no undue demand for parking off-site would result.  The 
proposal would therefore not pose an unacceptable danger to highway safety and is in 
accordance with Policy CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies 
PP12 and PP13 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

d) Neighbour amenity
With regards to the proposed three storey extension to the south-eastern elevation, it is noted 
that objections have been received from neighbouring occupants along Robin Hood Close in 
terms of the impact of the proposal upon their amenity.  The principal concerns relate to 
overbearing, loss of privacy and noise impacts.  

In terms of the physical relationship of the proposal, this would be sited approximately 21.4 
metres from the closest boundary with a residential dwelling (No.10 Robin Hood Close) and 34 
metres from the facing rear elevation of this dwelling.  It is considered that this level of 
separation is adequate to ensure that no undue levels of overbearing impact result.  
Furthermore, it should be noted that the same elevation was permitted an extension of the 
same scale and height in 2010 (reference 10/00952/FUL).  The separation distance from this 
permitted and constructed extension to the nearest residential boundary and dwelling (No.6 
Robin Hood Close) is 16.4 and 31 metres respectively.  The proposal therefore represents a 
greater level of separation than the earlier extension. 

In terms of noise impact, there are two different impacts which would result: noise and general 
disturbance relating to increased activity on the site; and noise from the proposed plant room.  
In terms of increased activity on the site, it is not considered that the addition of a new theatre 
suite (with other associated facilities) would significantly increase the intensity of the use of the 
site.  It is acknowledged that the surrounding area is residential, and residents have expressed 
concerns that past extensions have resulted in an industrial development which jars with the 
character of the locality.  Concern is expressed that the proposal would only exacerbate this 
disharmony with the surrounding area.  However, the existing hospital is well-established and 
does not appear an unduly prominent or dominant feature within the locality.  Whilst it is a 
large facility, catering for a wide range of patients, it is not considered that the additional 
development proposed would unacceptably intensify the activity of the site and any increase is 
likely to be imperceptible above and beyond existing levels.  Furthermore, the level of activity 
would be relatively dispersed throughout the site, as the additional parking provision (and 
associated noise from vehicles) is not concentrated in any one area which does not already 
have parking there.  

With regards to noise from plant, it is noted that concern has been raised from residents of 
Robin Hood Close that the additional proposed plant room would result in further noise 
disturbance above and beyond that which already exists.  The City Council’s Pollution Control 
Officer has advised that there have been no statutory noise complaints received in relation to 

52



existing plant at the site and as such, there is no way to verify the comments raised.  However, 
due consideration must be given to the need to ensure that any new plant does not create an 
unacceptable noise disturbance.  The Pollution Control Officer has advised that a condition be 
imposed which restricts the noise emitted from the site in relation to the levels at adjacent 
residential properties.  Over the years, differing noise limit conditions have been imposed on 
planning permissions however the Pollution Control Officer has advised that the lowest of the 
limits imposed (which was last imposed in 2012) should be re-used to ensure that the level of 
noise is not perceptible above background levels.  Accordingly, a noise limit of 30dBA during 
daytime (07:00 to 23:00 hours) and 26dBA during night-time (23:00 to 07:00 hours) is to be 
imposed by condition.  These levels are considered acceptable in the context of the site, which 
has a relatively high background noise level owing to the traffic noise from the nearby A47 
Trunk Road.  

On the basis of the above, it is considered that the proposal would not result in an 
unacceptable impact to the amenities of neighbouring occupants and is therefore in 
accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP3 
of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).  

e) Impact upon designated heritage assets
The southern boundary of the application site bounds the registered historic parkland/gardens 
of the Milton Estate, with the Grade I Listed Milton Hall approximately 1,200 metres beyond.  
Under the provisions of Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990, as well as national and local planning policies, special regard must be paid to the 
need to ensure that the historic features of these heritage assets are preserved or enhanced.  

The City Council’s Conservation Officer has advised that whilst the proposed extension would 
be set marginally higher than the existing building, given its siting set-back within the site and 
the considerable intervening landscape buffer along the site boundary, the proposal would not 
harm the character or setting of Milton Hall or Park.  The Conservation Officer has however 
requested that consideration be given to whether additional boundary planting would assist in 
reinforcing the buffer screen.  This is discussed below.  

On this basis, it is considered that the proposal would preserve the character and setting of 
designated heritage assets and as such, the proposal is in accordance with Section 66 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, paragraph 131 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2012), Policy CS17 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD 
(2011) and Policy PP17 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).  

f) Trees
As detailed within Section 1 above, there are both trees contained within and surrounding the 
application site of varying degrees of maturity.  By virtue of the proposed extension and 
additional parking spaces, some of the trees within the site would need to be felled, in 
particular 4no. Silver Birch trees.  The City Council's Tree Officer has raised no objections to 
this as the trees offer little contribution towards the overall amenity of the locality and public 
views of the trees are relatively limited.  Notwithstanding this, the proposal seeks to re-plant 
4no. Silver Birch trees within the area surrounding the extension including opposite the 
extension along the boundary with Robin Hood Close.  This re-planting is considered to be 
appropriate and would mitigate the loss of the existing trees.  

It is noted that the Conservation Officer has requested that the planting to the southern 
boundary with Milton Estate be reviewed, and additional strengthening through new planting 
be sought if considered appropriate.  However, the planning system can only require works to 
mitigate the impacts of the development subject to the application.  Given that no harm has 
been identified to the setting of the heritage assets which lie to the south, it is not considered 
reasonable or necessary to require additional strengthening planting of this boundary.  

In light of the above, it is considered that the proposal would not result in the loss of any trees 

53



of key amenity value and adequate replacement planting can be secured.  The proposal is 
therefore in accordance with Policy PP16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011).

6 Conclusions

Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal is acceptable having been 
assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of 
the development plan and specifically:
 the proposal would result in additional healthcare facilities and services which would be of 

benefit to the community of Peterborough, in accordance with paragraph 70 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2012);

 the proposed extensions and car park reconfiguration would not result in an unacceptable 
impact upon the character, appearance or visual amenity of the surrounding area, in 
accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP2 
of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012);

 the proposal would provide adequate on-site parking facilities to meet the demands of the 
proposal and, in the even that increased on-street parking results in a danger to highway 
safety, adequate measures can be implemented to address this, in accordance with Policy 
CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies PP12 and PP13 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012);

 the proposal would not result in an unacceptable impact to the amenities of neighbouring 
occupants, in accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) 
and Policy PP3 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012);

 the proposal would preserve the character and setting of nearby designated heritage assets, in 
accordance with Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990, paragraph 131 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012), Policy CS17 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP17 of the Peterborough Planning 
Policies DPD (2012); and

 the proposal would not result in the loss of trees which are of key amenity value to the locality 
and adequate mitigating planting can be secured, in accordance with Policy PP16 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

7 Recommendation

The Director of Growth and Regeneration recommends that Planning Permission is GRANTED 
subject to the following conditions and the securing of a Section 106 Legal Agreement which 
makes provision for pre- and post-occupation parking surveys of the surrounding residential streets 
and, where necessary, the implementation of Traffic Regulation Orders on those streets.

If the required Section 106 legal agreement is not completed within a reasonable period, then the 
Committee delegates the issuing of a notice of refusal to the Director of Growth and Regeneration 
on the grounds that the development has failed to adequately mitigate its impacts.

 
C 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 

the date of this permission.

Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended).

 
C 2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

drawings:

- Location Plan (drawing number 6593/LP2 Revision A)
- Site Survey (drawing number 7829 Sheet 1 Revision A)
- Site Plan as Existing (drawing number 6593/P10)
- Ground Floor Plan as Existing (drawing number 6593/P11)
- First and Part Second Floor Plan as Existing (drawing number 6593/P12)

54



- Elevations as Existing - Sheet 1 of 2 (drawing number 6593/P13)
- Elevations as Existing - Sheet 2 of 2 (drawing number 6593/P14)
- Proposed Site Layout (drawing number 6593 P.20 Revision C)
- Proposed Ground Floor GA (drawing number 6593 P.21 Revision C)
- Proposed First Floor GA and Plant Room Over (drawing number 6593 P.22)
- Proposed Elevations (drawing number 6593 P.23)
- Proposed North Courtyard Elevations of Theatre Store Modular Building (drawing number 
6593 P.24)

Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt.
 
C 3 No development other than groundworks and foundations shall take place until details of 

the following external materials to be used have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority:

- Walling including all brickwork, cladding and brick detailing
- Roofing
- Windows including glazed entrance 
- Doors
- Rainwater goods 

The details submitted for approval shall include the name of the manufacturer, the product 
type, colour (using BS4800) and reference number. The development shall not be carried 
out except in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: For the Local Planning Authority to ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in 
accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy 
PP2 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 
C 4 No work shall take on the application site (including soil stripping, preconstruction delivery 

of equipment or materials, the creation of site accesses) until a Construction Management 
Plan (CMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
The CMP shall include (not exclusively) the following:

- Hours of working
- Haul routes to/from the site
- Material storage locations
- Parking, turning, loading and unloading areas for all construction vehicles
- Contractor parking
- Site welfare cabin and office positions
- Measures to control the emission of dust from the site
- Wheel washing facilities, which every vehicle exiting the site must pass through before 
entering the public highway
- Temporary construction fencing

Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved CMP.

Reason:  In the interests of highway safety and to preserve the amenities of neighbouring 
occupants, in accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) 
and Policies PP2 and PP12 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).  The 
condition is required prior to commencement to ensure that no works take place in 
preparing the site which would harm highway safety or neighbour amenity.

 
C 5 Prior to first occupation of the extensions hereby permitted, the additional/reconfigured 

parking spaces shown on drawing number 6593 P.20 Revision C shall be marked out and 
made available for the parking of vehicles.  Thereafter, those spaces shall not be used for 

55



any purpose other than the parking of vehicles in connection with the use of the property 
known as Fitzwilliam Hospital in perpetuity.  

Reason:  In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy CS14 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies PP12 and PP13 of the Peterborough 
Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 
C 6 Prior to first occupation of the extensions hereby permitted, staff cycle parking for 5 bicycles 

which is secure and covered shall be provided in accordance with details submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter, the cycle parking shall be 
retained for the parking of staff cycles in connection with the site known as Fitzwilliam 
Hospital in perpetuity.

Reason:  In order to promote more sustainable methods of travel to and from the site, in 
accordance with Policy CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy 
PP13 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 
C 7 Within 6 months of the completion of the development hereby permitted, a final Travel Plan 

based upon the principles set out within the submitted 'Workplace Travel Plan Framework' 
(October 2015), shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  Thereafter, the measures contained within the approved document shall be 
implemented in accordance with the timetable contained therein.  

Reason:  In order to promote more sustainable methods of travel to and from the site, in 
accordance with Policy CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy 
PP13 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 
C 8 In this condition "retained tree" means an existing tree which is to be retained in 

accordance with the approved plans and particulars; and paragraphs (a) and (b) below 
shall have effect until the expiration of twelve months from the date of the occupation of the 
building for its permitted use.

(a) No retained tree shall be cut down, uprooted or destroyed, nor shall any retained tree be 
topped or lopped other than in accordance with the approved plans and particulars, without 
the written approval of the Local Planning Authority.  Any topping or lopping approved shall 
be carried out in accordance with British Standard 3998 (Tree Work);

(b) If any retained tree is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies, another tree shall be 
planted at the same place and that tree shall be of such size and species, and shall be 
planted at such time, as may be specified in writing by the Local Planning Authority;

(c) The erection of fencing for the protection of any retained tree shall be undertaken in 
accordance withBS5837:2012 'Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction - 
Recommendations' before any equipment, machinery or materials are brought on to the 
site for the purposes of the development, and shall be maintained until all equipment, 
machinery and surplus materials have been removed from the site.  Nothing shall be stored 
or placed in any area fenced in accordance with this condition and the ground levels within 
those areas shall not be altered, nor shall any excavation be made, without the written 
consent of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In order to protect and safeguard the amenities of the area, in accordance with 
Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies PP2 and PP16 of 
the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 
C 9 No development other than groundworks and foundations shall take place until a scheme 

for the soft landscaping of the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 

56



Local Planning Authority.  The scheme shall include detailed planting plans, including 
species, numbers, size and density of planting.  

The approved landscaping scheme shall be carried out within the first available planting 
season following first occupation of the development.  

Any trees, shrubs or hedges forming part of the approved landscaping scheme that die, are 
removed or become diseased within five years of the implementation of the landscaping 
scheme shall be replaced during the next available planting season by the developers, or 
their successors in title with an equivalent size, number and species to those being 
replaced.  Any replacement trees, shrubs or hedgerows dying within five years of planting 
shall themselves be replaced with an equivalent size, number and species.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and then enhancement of biodiversity, in 
accordance with policy CS21 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy 
PP16 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 
C10 The noise level of the plant to be incorporated into the development hereby permitted shall 

not exceed the following limits when measured at 1 metre from the nearest residential 
dwelling:

- 30dBA daytime (between 07:00 and 23:00 hours); and
- 26dBA night-time (between 23:00 and 07:00 hours).

Plant noise emissions shall be assessed in accordance with BS414:2014.  Should any plant 
item emit noise of a tonal or irregular nature, a 5dB acoustic penalty shall be applied. 

In the event of any reasonable noise complaint being received by the Local Planning 
Authority, the Developer or their successors in Title, shall be required to undertake a full 
noise assessment to demonstrate compliance with the above noise limit and submit this 
within 28 days of notice issued by the Local Planning Authority. Should such an 
assessment fail to demonstrate compliance, further mitigation measures shall be submitted 
alongside the noise assessment and implemented in accordance with the submitted details 
within 28 days of approval by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of preserving the amenities of neighbouring occupants, in 
accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy 
PP3 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 

Copies to Councillors: W Fitzgerald, L Ayres

57



This page is intentionally left blank

58



59



This page is intentionally left blank

60



Planning and EP Committee 5 July 2016 Item 4

Application Ref: 16/00671/FUL 

Proposal: Alterations and conversion to create additional shop (class A1 use) at 
ground floor and 8no. one bedroom flats at first and second floors

Site: 3 - 7 Oxford Road, Millfield, Peterborough, PE1 3BL
Applicant: Mr Zahid Hussain
Agent: Mr D Coulling, PDG Architects Ltd

Referred by: Councillor Shearman 
Reason: Overdevelopment and impact on traffic conditions in the area 
Site visit: 18.09.2016

Case officer: Miss Louise Lovegrove
Telephone No. 01733 454439
E-Mail: louise.lovegrove@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation: GRANT subject to relevant conditions  

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site and Surroundings
The application site comprises a part-two storey part-single storey building of mixed use, with A1 
retail floorspace at ground floor (formerly a carpet/furniture store) and B1 offices at first floor.  The 
site is situated on the southern side of Oxford Road and lies within the identified boundary of the 
Millfield District Centre.  The surrounding area to the south-west is characterised by a variety of A1, 
A2 (financial/professional services), A3 (cafe/restaurant) and A5 (hot food takeaways) uses within 
the District Centre whereas to the north and east are predominantly residential dwellings.  

The building fills almost the entirety of the application site, running the entire depth of the plot.  
There is a single width vehicular access to the north-east of the building, immediately adjacent to 
No.15 Oxford Road, which leads to a large concrete hardstanding which is used for car parking.  

Proposal
The application seeks planning permission for:
 Subdivision of the existing ground floor A1 retail unit to 2no. units, with the installation of new 

security roller shutters;
 Construction of a first floor side extension;
 Creation of 8no. 1-bed flats at first and second floor levels; and
 Associated external works to facilitate the residential accommodation through the insertion of 

new roof lights.    

It should be noted that considerable unauthorised works have taken place at the application site, 
including the construction of dangerous extensions at first/second floor level and conversion of the 
first and second floors to residential flats.  No occupation of these flats has ever taken place.  
There is an Enforcement Notice in force on the site which requires these unauthorised works to be 
removed and the site restored to its original condition by the 5th March 2016.  This has not yet 
been complied with.  However, the Owner is awaiting the outcome of this planning decision before 
undertaking further works on the site, a position accepted  by the City Council's Planning 
Compliance Officers.  

These unauthorised works have no impact upon the consideration of this application, as 
retrospective consent is not sought.  

61



2 Planning History

Reference Proposal Decision Date
P0319/74/EU For a warehouse and for the retail sale of 

furniture, furnishings and ancillary goods
Permitted 02/09/1974

P0007/83 Change of use of part of ground floor 
store/showroom to TV workshop and of first floor 
store to offices

Refused 10/03/1983

08/00058/FUL Four one-bed apartments, nine two-bed 
apartments and one three-bed apartment

Refused 08/04/2008

3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)

CS14 - Transport 
Promotes a reduction in the need to travel, sustainable transport, the Council’s UK Environment 
Capital aspirations and development which would improve the quality of environments for 
residents.

CS16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm 
Design should be of high quality, appropriate to the site and area, improve the public realm, 
address vulnerability to crime, be accessible to all users and not result in any unacceptable impact 
upon the amenities of neighbouring residents.

Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)

PP02 - Design Quality 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes a positive contribution to the built 
and natural environment; does not have a detrimental effect on the character of the area; is 
sufficiently robust to withstand/adapt to climate change; and is designed for longevity.

PP03 - Impacts of New Development 
Permission will not be granted for development which would result in an unacceptable loss of 
privacy, public and/or private green space or natural daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or 
other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to minimise opportunities for crime and disorder.

PP04 - Amenity Provision in New Residential Development 
Proposals for new residential development should be designed and located to ensure that they 
provide for the needs of the future residents.

PP11A - (a) Shop Frontages (including signage) 
Permission will only be granted if the design is sympathetic, it would not harm the character and 
appearance of the street and advertisements are incorporated as an integral part of the design.

PP11B - (b) External Shutters 
Permission will only be granted where there is demonstrable need in terms of crime; the property is 
not listed or within a conservation area; the shutter is designed to a high standard and is 
perforated.

PP12 - The Transport Implications of Development 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate provision has been made for safe access by all user 
groups and there would not be any unacceptable impact on the transportation network including 

62



highway safety.

PP13 - Parking Standards 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all modes of transport is made 
in accordance with standards.

Peterborough Shop Front Design Guidance SPD (2014)

Design Principle 4: Security Measures
The installation of an external security shutter will only be acceptable if certain criteria are met.  

Peterborough Local Plan 2016 to 2036 (Preliminary Draft)
This document sets out the planning policies against which development will be assessed. It will 
bring together all the current Development Plan Documents into a single document. Consultation 
on this document runs from 15 January to 25 February 2016. 

At this preliminary stage the polices cannot be afforded any weight with the exception of the 
calculation relating to the five year land supply as this is based upon the updated Housing Needs 
Assessment and sites which have planning permission or which are subject to a current 
application. Individual policies are not therefore referred to further in this report.

4 Consultations/Representations

Building Control Manager (19.05.16)
Building Regulations approval required.  Part M relating to disabled requirements also applicable.

Millfield & New England Residents Planning Sub Group (10.05.16)
Objection - The proposal seeks to replace a retail business, which by its nature did not have a 
large volume of customers visiting at any one time, with 2 retail businesses and 8 apartments.  The 
Applicant is then seeking to claim that there will be less traffic and there will not be an impact on 
the area.  We find this argument spurious.  

Although one of the retail businesses is similar in selling larger items (so not having a high volume 
of customers), there is bound to be more traffic as the second business is possibly a hairdressers - 
likely to have more customers and needing to park for longer than most shop users.  What 
happens if different businesses with more customers take over the premises?

Victoria Park Residents Association 
No comments received.

PCC Transport & Engineering Services (10.05.16)
No objections - Whilst the existing access to the site is significantly substandard, it has been 
demonstrated that the proposed traffic generation would be insignificant in comparison to the 
existing use.  In terms of retail use of the ground floor, this is likely to be similar in comparison to 
the previous use.  In addition, the site is located within a District Centre.  The Local Highway 
Authority could not insist upon parking within the curtilage of the site for either staff or customers 
on this basis.

PCC Pollution Team 
No comments received.

Cambridgeshire Fire & Rescue Service 
No comments received

Archaeological Officer (09.05.16)
No objections - The proposed development site has negligible archaeological implications.

63



Waste Management 
No comments received.

Local Residents/Interested Parties 

Initial consultations: 29
Total number of responses: 3
Total number of objections: 3
Total number in support: 0

One objection has been received from a neighbouring resident on the following grounds:
 Object on the grounds of increased road traffic in an already busy and overcrowded area.
 Object to the probable increase in noise pollution due to the number and type of proposed 

residential units and retail use of the property.  
 Oxford Road is a residential Street that, if this application is allowed to go ahead, will become 

more of an extension to Lincoln Road and will cause upset to residents with an increase in 
road and foot traffic at all times of the day and night.  

 Rubbish and dropping of litter in the area is already beyond reasonable levels and this 
application will only increase the amount of unsightly litter, possible infestation of vermin from 
bins and general decrease in the quality of the residents' environment. 

 The property has already been extended without permission by the Applicant and is the 
subject of an Enforcement Notice.  The unsightly second floor extension now overlooks out 
property with open windows and if this is allowed to stay, this will only justify the actions of the 
Applicant.

 The current design and layout of the building, as it has been extended, is not acceptable. 
 The only access to the property for commercial re-stocking would involve extra vans/lorries 

entering Oxford Road causing more traffic problems.

Councillor Shearman - The development is considered to be inappropriate on the grounds that it 
represents overdevelopment of the site.  I am also concerned over the impact the development will 
make on traffic conditions in this area.

5 Assessment of the planning issues

The main considerations are:
 Principle of development
 Design and impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area
 Parking, traffic and highway implications
 Neighbour amenity
 Amenity provision for future occupants

a) Principle of development
As detailed in Section 1 above, the application site is located within the identified Millfield 
District Centre.  This allocation is intended to identify the area whereby retail (Class A1) 
development is appropriate and where such development should be directed in the first 
instance.  At present, the site is lawfully within a Class A1 use at ground floor.  The subdivision 
to create a second retail unit within this floor area does not constitute development and as 
such, does not require the benefit of planning permission.  However, it has been included 
within the application proposal and as such, the Local Planning Authority has a duty to 
consider this element of the proposal.  Given the 'fall-back position' (i.e. that it does not need 
permission) and that the site is located within an identified retail centre, it is considered that 
the creation of 2no. retail units at ground floor is wholly appropriate.

With regards to the conversion of the first and second floors to residential accommodation, 
there are numerous examples within the locality and throughout the City whereby residential 
accommodation is situated above retail development.  Furthermore, 'permitted development 

64



rights' set out within the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 
2015 (as amended) allow for the creation of up to 2no. residential flats above each ground 
floor retail unit.  In light of this, it is considered that the principle of first floor residential 
accommodation is acceptable.  

b) Design and impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area
The proposal includes the construction of a first floor side extension.  This would form an 
extension to the existing two storey development on the site, and would infill the existing gap 
between the two storey and single storey elements of the building.  It is considered that the 
size, scale and form of this extension both reflects and respects the character and 
architectural form of the host building.  The proposal represents a natural extension to the 
building and would not appear an incongruous or alien feature within the site or streetscene.  

The roof form of the extension would be the predominantly visible feature, which maintains the 
eaves, ridge lines and roof slope angles of the existing properties.  Accordingly, the resultant 
building would not appear unduly dominant or obtrusive.  To the side elevations, the proposal 
would be visible through a small section of increased ridge height however this would not 
exceed the height of the two storey element of the existing building and is considered to be of 
such a size that it would not appear prominent from the public realm. 

With regards to the proposed new roof lights, it is acknowledged that the proposal would result 
in the introduction of a considerable number on the south-western elevation of the building.  
This elevation, owing to the open nature of the adjacent car park, is readily visible from the 
public realm.  However, it is considered that the introduction of the roof lights assists in 
breaking up the considerable length of the roof slope and accordingly, the roof lights would not 
appear alien features within the streetscene.  

In terms of the proposed external roller shutters, it is noted that these are proposed to be of a 
solid finish, coloured to match the finish of the shop front to which they would be applied.  
However, such a design of roller shutters has traditionally been resisted throughout 
Peterborough owing to the harm that results to the character of streetscenes.  It is considered 
that the introduction of this design of roller shutter would result in a 'dead' frontage to the site, 
giving the appearance of crime and antisocial behaviour.  This would therefore result in 
unacceptable harm to the character and appearance of the streetscene.  It is however noted 
that within the immediate locality, there are issues of crime and this has resulted in a number 
of commercial/retail premises installing external roller shutters.  

On this basis it is considered that the proposal would not result in an unacceptable impact 
upon the character, appearance or visual amenity of the surrounding area and is therefore in 
accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011), Policies PP2 
and PP11 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012) and the Peterborough Shop 
Front Design Guidance SPD (2014). 

c) Parking, traffic and highway implications
The application has been accompanied by a detailed Transport Statement (TS) which sets out 
the traffic impacts arising from both the existing property and the proposal.  This TS was 
compiled in accordance with advice offered by the Local Highway Authority (LHA) who have 
raised no objections to its contents.  

Turning first to the existing use of the site, this lawfully comprises an A1 retail unit at ground 
floor and B1 offices at first floor.  In total, per day, this generates a trip rate of 24 movements.  
It should be noted that whilst the existing retail unit was used for carpet/furniture sales and 
warehousing, the lawful use was not restricted and therefore it could, at any time, change to a 
more intensive retail use (e.g. convenience store, supermarket etc.) without the need for 
planning permission.  Accordingly, this more intensive traffic generating use must be 
considered as the fall-back position.  

65



Turning next to the proposal, it is noted that all of the objections received have raised 
concerns with regards to the impact that increased traffic generation would have upon the 
amenity of the area and highway safety.  The LHA has advised that because the site is 
situated within the area defined as a District Centre, no parking provision is required for the 
ground floor retail units.  This is a position taken in respect of all other retail developments 
within such defined shopping areas, as the units are intended to serve the local community 
within the surrounding area, thereby resulting in the majority of trips on foot.  However, the 
proposal seeks to include staff/customer parking on the hardstanding to the front of the units, 
controlled by means of retractable bollards.  This is accepted by the Local Highway Authority 
as this is the current situation.  In terms of the proposed residential units, the submitted TS 
demonstrates that the trip generation arising from the 8no. 1-bed units would not exceed those 
of the existing situation.  Accordingly, the LHA considers that the proposal would not result in 
an unacceptable increase in traffic generation.  

With regards to parking provision, the proposal would provide 9no. parking spaces within the 
existing yard area to the side of the unit for the proposed residential units.  This would equate 
to one parking space for each unit, along with 1no. visitor parking space.  This level of parking 
provision accords with minimum adopted parking standards for residential development.  With 
regards to the access serving these parking spaces, it is accepted that this is substandard, at 
only 2.6 metres in width.  This would therefore not allow for 2-way traffic and normally would 
be resisted by the LHA.  However, as the traffic generation from the proposal is not considered 
to be above the existing capacity of the site, the LHA has advised that a refusal of the 
application on this ground would not be likely sustained at appeal.  

In terms of servicing arrangements, these already take place on the public highway to the front 
of the site as large vehicles cannot access the rear yard area owing to the inadequate width of 
the side access.  Furthermore, there is insufficient space on the front hardstanding for a 
service vehicle to safely pull clear of the highway/footway to load/unload.  Whilst the proposal 
would result in an additional retail unit, the floor area would not increase and, as set out above, 
such subdivision does not constitute development requiring planning permission.  Accordingly, 
it is not considered that the proposal could be resisted on the basis of 
loading/unloading/servicing taking place on the adjacent public highway.  

Taking all of the above into account, it has been demonstrated that the proposal would not 
represent a significant intensification of the traffic generation from the site and adequate 
parking provision is made within the site boundary.  Accordingly, the proposal would not pose 
an unacceptable danger to highway safety and is therefore in accordance with Policy CS14 of 
the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies PP12 and PP13 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).    

d) Neighbour amenity
It is noted that an objection has been received from a neighbouring occupant to the site 
however it should be noted, that no objections have been received from any residential 
properties which have an immediately adjoining boundary.  The main concerns relate to 
increased intensity of the use of the site, with associated noise and general disturbance, and 
overlooking impact.  

In terms of increased activity within the site, it is not considered that the proposal would 
significantly increase the level of activity within the site.  At present, the site comprises an A1 
retail unit at ground floor with B1 offices at first and second floor levels.  Whilst the level of 
actual activity which has arisen from these uses may not have been considerable in the past, 
due consideration must be given to the potential impact which could arise without the need for 
planning permission.  As detailed above, there are no restrictions on the A1 retail use and it 
therefore could revert to a more intensive retail use (e.g. convenience store, supermarket etc.) 
at any time without the need for planning permission.  Furthermore, the B1 offices at first floor 
could be split into differing occupants, resulting in a far higher intensity of use than a single 
occupier.   On this basis, it is not considered that the proposal to create 8no. residential units 

66



at first floor along with the ground floor retail development would represent a significant 
increase in intensity of the site.  

In terms of hours of operation, there are no restrictions on the current site and therefore, this 
may be open to customers, in planning terms, at any time.  Given this existing situation, and 
that the proposal is not considered to constitute an intensification of the use of the site, it is not 
considered that the imposition of restrictions on the hours of opening of the ground floor retail 
units would be reasonable.  

With regards to the use of the existing yard area of the site for parking, at present there are no 
restrictions in terms of its usage.  As such, whilst the proposal would introduce 9no. formalised 
parking spaces, it is not considered that this would represent an impact above and beyond the 
existing situation.  Furthermore, part of this yard area is proposed for outdoor amenity space 
and therefore, there would be some decrease in the amount of land available for vehicle 
movements.  

With regards to overlooking impact, the proposal only seeks to introduce roof lights on the 
south-western elevation of the building.  These windows would face the rear elevations of 
properties along Lincoln Road.  Whilst the majority of these are within commercial/retail uses, 
there are residential properties at first floor level.  The proposed windows would be sited at 
such a height that views outwards could be permitted and as such, there is the potential for 
overlooking.  However, the neighbouring properties are situated a minimum of 24.5 metres 
from the proposed windows and it is considered that this level of separation is sufficient to 
ensure that no undue loss of privacy results.  To the north, no primary habitable windows are 
proposed so no issues of overlooking would result.  In terms of the front elevation, the 
conversion to residential units would result in the existing first floor windows serving primary 
habitable rooms.  The separation distance to the opposing residential properties stands at 20.5 
metres and again, it is considered that this is sufficient to ensure no unacceptable harm to the 
amenities of those neighbouring occupants.  Finally, to the rear, as with the front elevation, the 
conversion to residential units would result in the existing first floor windows serving primary 
habitable rooms.  However, these windows are sited in such a position that only obscure views 
to the neighbouring garden of No.17 Oxford Road would result and at a distance of 10.8 
metres.  This would overlook the outdoor amenity area but not the immediate outdoor amenity 
area.  As such, it is not considered that the level of overlooking that would result would be to 
an unacceptable level.  

On the basis of the above, it is considered that the proposal would not result in an 
unacceptable impact to the amenities of neighbouring occupants and is therefore in 
accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP3 
of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).  

e) Amenity provision for future occupants 
The proposal would result in the creation of 8no. 1-bed residential units at first and second 
floor level, with the majority of the units created within the existing roof space of the building.  
Accordingly, 6no. of the flats would only be served by roof lights to their primary habitable 
rooms (kitchen/living and bedrooms).  The submitted section drawings identify that the 
positioning of these windows is such that outward views would be permitted for future 
occupants and accordingly, it is considered that this would offer an acceptable level of 
amenity.  The size of the windows is such that adequate natural daylight and sunlight would be 
received within these rooms.  Furthermore, the size of the units is considered sufficient without 
resulting in unacceptably cramped accommodation.  Each unit would afford occupants the 
necessary amenities, with adequate circulation space.  

In addition, through the subdivision of the existing yard area, a communal outdoor amenity 
area is proposed of some 90 square metres.  Whilst not of considerable size, it is considered 
that this is an area of sufficient size to enable future occupants to dry washing and sit outside 
with some degree of privacy.  

67



On this basis, it is considered that the proposed residential units would afford future occupants 
an acceptable level of amenity, in accordance with Policy PP4 of the Peterborough Planning 
Policies DPD (2012).

6 Conclusions

Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal is acceptable having been 
assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of 
the development plan and specifically:
 the retention of a retail use at ground floor level with the creation of residential accommodation 

above is compatible with the surrounding uses and the identified Millfield District Centre;
 the proposed first floor extension and external alterations would not result in an unacceptable 

impact upon the character, appearance or visual amenity of the surrounding area, in 
accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011), Policies PP2 
and PP11 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012) and the Peterborough Shop 
Front Design Guidance SPD (2014);

 the proposal would not result in an intensification of traffic movements to/from the site and 
would provide adequate on-site parking to meet the needs of the development thereby not 
resulting in undue impact to the surrounding public highway network, in accordance with Policy 
CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies PP12 and PP13 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012);

 the proposal would not result in an unacceptable impact to the amenities of neighbouring 
residential occupants, in accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy 
DPD (2011) and Policy PP3 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012); and

 the proposal would afford future occupants an acceptable level of amenity, in accordance with 
Policy PP4 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

7 Recommendation

The Director of Growth and Regeneration recommends that Planning Permission is GRANTED 
subject to the following conditions:
 
C 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 

the date of this permission.

Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended).

 
C 2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

drawings:

- Site: Location (drawing number 15034/L(90.1)01)
- Existing: Original Plans and Elevations (drawing number 15034/01)
- Proposed: Plans (drawing number 15034/PL01A)
- Proposed: Elevations (drawing number 15034/PL02)

Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt.
 
C 3 No development shall take place until details of the following external materials to be used 

have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:

- Walling
- Roofing
- Windows
- Doors
- Rainwater goods 

68



The details submitted for approval shall include the name of the manufacturer, the product 
type, colour (using BS4800) and reference number. The development shall not be carried 
out except in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: For the Local Planning Authority to ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in 
accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy 
PP2 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).  The condition is required prior to 
commencement to ensure that the external appearance is acceptable and there are no 
works which could be undertaken without use of the external materials.

 
C 4 Notwithstanding the drawings hereby approved and prior to installation of the external roller 

shutters, details of a revised design of the roller shutters shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The revised details should incorporate 
a punched/perforated design with no less than 45% vision and the finish colour.  The 
external roller shutters shall be installed in accordance with the approved details.  

Reason:  In the interests of the visual appearance of the streetscene, in accordance with 
Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP2 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 
C 5 Prior to the commencement of development, a Construction Management Plan (CMP) shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The CMP shall 
include (not exclusively) the following:

- Hours of working
- Material storage locations
- Parking, turning, loading and unloading areas for all construction vehicles
- Contractor parking
- Site welfare cabin and office positions
- Measures to control the emission of dust from the site
- Wheel washing facilities, which every vehicle exiting the site must pass through before 
entering the public highway
- Temporary construction fencing

Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved CMP.

Reason:  In the interests of highway safety and to preserve the amenities of neighbouring 
occupants, in accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) 
and Policies PP2 and PP12 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).  The 
condition is required prior to commencement to ensure that no works take place in 
preparing the site which would harm highway safety or neighbour amenity.

 

C 6 Prior to first occupation of any residential unit hereby permitted, the car parking and turning 
areas shown on drawing number 15034/PL01A 'Proposed: Plans' shall be provided, with 
the spaces marked out.  Thereafter, those areas shall be retained solely for the parking and 
turning of vehicles in connection with the residential units contained with the building known 
as '3-7 Oxford Road'.  

Reason:  In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy CS14 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies PP12 and PP13 of the Peterborough 
Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 
C 7 Prior to first occupation of any residential unit hereby permitted, details of secure and 

covered cycle parking for 8 bicycles shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The cycle parking shall be installed in accordance with the 

69



approved details and prior to first occupation of any residential unit.  Thereafter, the cycle 
parking shall be retained solely for the parking of bicycles in connection with the use of the 
residential units contained with the building known as '3-7 Oxford Road'.  

Reason:  In order to promote more sustainable methods of travel, in accordance with Policy 
CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP13 of the Peterborough 
Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 
C 8 Notwithstanding the drawings hereby approved and prior to first occupation of any 

residential unit, details of the following shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority:

- Boundary treatments, including gates to the vehicular access and outdoor amenity area;
- Retractable bollards to the site frontage; and
- Covered and enclosed refuse storage areas for both the residential and retail units.  

The boundary treatments shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details 
prior to first occupation of any residential unit and the retractable bollards and refuse 
storage areas shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to first 
occupation of any retail or residential unit.  

Reason:  In order to preserve the amenities of neighbouring residents and in the interests 
of future occupant amenity, in accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core 
Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies PP3 and PP4 of the Peterborough Planning Policies 
DPD (2012).

Copies to Councillors: R Ferris, J Peach, J Shearman
 

70



71



This page is intentionally left blank

72



Planning and EP Committee 5 July 2016 Item 5

Application Ref: 16/00861/FUL 

Proposal: Proposed extension to 3 shop units - resubmission

Site: 85 Mayors Walk, West Town, Peterborough, PE3 6EY
Applicant: Mr Shokat Ali

Agent: Mr N P Branston

Referred by: Councillor Jamil
Reason: The extension would bring the property in line with neighbouring 

properties
Site visit: 18.01.2016

Case officer: Miss Louise Lovegrove
Telephone No. 01733 454439
E-Mail: louise.lovegrove@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation: REFUSE  

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site and Surroundings
The application site comprises the former Westwood Public House located at the junction of 
Mayors Walk, Alderman's Drive and Nicholl's Avenue.  The property has been undergoing 
extensive renovation, extension and conversion to create Class A1 (retail), A2 (professional 
services), A3 (cafe/restaurant), A4 (drinking establishment) and A5 (hot food takeaway) units at 
ground floor.  The conversion will also create residential units at first and second floors comprising 
3 no. 2-bed apartments, 1 no. 3-bed apartment and 1 no. studio apartment.  To accommodate this, 
a two storey side extension to the premises (fronting Alderman's Drive) has been constructed with 
dormer windows in the roof space.  These works were initially unauthorised however they were 
later regularised through planning permission reference 13/00530/FUL.  

The above works have been almost completed however the frontages to the ground floor retail 
units along Alderman's Drive have not yet been installed.  

Parking associated with the property is located to the rear, accessed via an enclosed drive through 
from Alderman's Drive, situated adjacent to the shared boundary with No.167.  

The site is situated within the identified West Town Local Centre with a variety of A1 retail and 
other main 'town centre' uses.  The wider area surrounding this is predominantly residential.  

Proposal
The application seeks planning permission for the construction of a single storey front extension to 
the Alderman's Drive frontage of the property.  The proposal would project approximately 2.2 
metres towards the public highway and extend to a height of approximately 3.2 metres with a flat 
roof design.

73



2 Planning History

Reference Proposal Decision Date
12/01119/FUL Erection of single storey front extension to 

public house and external alterations to 
create shop fronts. Change of use of ground 
floor to form A1 retail and A5 takeaway units, 
including the installation of extraction 
equipment. Change of use of existing hotel 
rooms, raising the existing public house roof 
and installation of dormer windows to form 
three residential dwellings. Erection of first 
and second floor extension to side to form 
two residential dwellings. Change of use of 
garden area to parking, and reinstatement of 
parking provision at front - part-retrospective.

Refused 22/02/2013

13/00530/FUL Construction of a single storey front 
extension and external alterations to create 
new shop fronts;  Change of use of ground 
floor to form A1 retail and A5 takeaway unit, 
including the installation of extraction 
equipment; Change of use of existing hotel 
rooms and construction of a first and second 
floor side extension, including the installation 
of dormer windows, to form 3 no. 2 x bed 
apartments, 1 no. 3 x bed apartment, 1 no. 
studio apartment and commercial unit; and 
change of use of the garden area to provide 
car parking and reinstatement of parking 
provision to the front

Permitted 01/07/2013

14/01842/NONMAT Non-material amendment to planning 
permission 13/00530/FUL - Construction of a 
single storey front extension and external 
alterations to create new shop fronts;  
Change of use of ground floor to form A1 
retail and A5 takeaway unit, including the 
installation of extraction equipment; Change 
of use of existing hotel rooms and 
construction of a first and second floor side 
extension, including the installation of dormer 
windows, to form 3 no. 2 x bed apartments, 1 
no. 3 x bed apartment, 1 no. studio 
apartment and commercial unit; and change 
of use of the garden area to provide car 
parking and reinstatement of parking 
provision to the front

Determined 27/10/2014

15/01967/FUL Proposed extension to 3 shop units Withdrawn 08/01/2016
16/00042/FUL Proposed extension to 3 shop units - 

resubmission
Withdrawn 23/03/2016

3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

74



National Planning Policy Framework (2012)

Section 7 - Good Design 
Development should add to the overall quality of the area; establish a strong sense of place; 
optimise the site potential; create and sustain an appropriate mix of uses; support local facilities 
and transport networks; respond to local character and history while not discouraging appropriate 
innovation; create safe and accessible environments which are visually attractive as a result of 
good architecture and appropriate landscaping. Planning permission should be refused for 
development of poor design.

Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)

CS14 - Transport 
Promotes a reduction in the need to travel, sustainable transport, the Council’s UK Environment 
Capital aspirations and development which would improve the quality of environments for 
residents.

CS16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm 
Design should be of high quality, appropriate to the site and area, improve the public realm, 
address vulnerability to crime, be accessible to all users and not result in any unacceptable impact 
upon the amenities of neighbouring residents.

Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)

PP02 - Design Quality 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes a positive contribution to the built 
and natural environment; does not have a detrimental effect on the character of the area; is 
sufficiently robust to withstand/adapt to climate change; and is designed for longevity.

PP03 - Impacts of New Development 
Permission will not be granted for development which would result in an unacceptable loss of 
privacy, public and/or private green space or natural daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or 
other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to minimise opportunities for crime and disorder.

PP11A - (a) Shop Frontages (including signage) 
Permission will only be granted if the design is sympathetic, it would not harm the character and 
appearance of the street and advertisements are incorporated as an integral part of the design.

PP12 - The Transport Implications of Development 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate provision has been made for safe access by all user 
groups and there would not be any unacceptable impact on the transportation network including 
highway safety.

PP13 - Parking Standards 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all modes of transport is made 
in accordance with standards.

Peterborough Local Plan 2016 to 2036 (Preliminary Draft)
This document sets out the planning policies against which development will be assessed. It will 
bring together all the current Development Plan Documents into a single document. Consultation 
on this document runs from 15 January to 25 February 2016. 

At this preliminary stage the polices cannot be afforded any weight with the exception of the 
calculation relating to the five year land supply as this is based upon the updated Housing Needs 
Assessment and sites which have planning permission or which are subject to a current 
application. Individual policies are not therefore referred to further in this report.

75



4 Consultations/Representations

PCC Transport & Engineering Services (31.05.16)
No objections - The proposal shall have no impact upon the adjacent public highway.

Building Control Manager (01.06.16)
Building Regulations approval required.  Part M relating to disabled requirements also applicable.  
Elevations appear to show steps to front entrances.  An accessible WC will be required in each 
unit.

Local Residents/Interested Parties 

Initial consultations: 10
Total number of responses: 0
Total number of objections: 0
Total number in support: 1

No neighbour/public representations have been received.

Councillor Jamil
I believe the plans as they are now would bring the building in line with the neighbouring houses.

I believe that the work on this building has been ongoing for years and would like to see an end to 
the building works  as the barriers around the building are an eye sore.

5 Assessment of the planning issues

The main considerations are:
 Design and impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area
 Neighbour amenity
 Parking, access and highway implications

a) Design and impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area
It is noted that the application property is not a designated heritage asset or contained within 
the City Council's list of 'Buildings of Local Importance' however, it is considered that it is a 
building of local prominence occupying a key position at the junction of Mayors Walk, 
Alderman's Drive and Nicholl's Avenue.  The building is of unique design, demonstrating many 
of the key architectural features of its period, and appears as a building of stature within the 
streetscene.  

Following the earlier unauthorised works to the building, Officers undertook extensive 
discussions with the applicant in order to achieve a final scheme which respected the 
character and appearance of the original building, and reflected the built form of the locality.  
Planning permission reference 13/00530/FUL, which has been almost completed, represents 
the scheme which was agreed with Officers (approved by Members of the Committee).  The 
approved plans allowed for a large two storey extension to the Alderman's Drive frontage and 
smaller single storey extensions to the corner and Mayors Walk elevations.  With regards to 
the Alderman's Drive frontage, it was a requirement that the front elevation be set back from 
the remaining bulk of the building to respect the original subservience of this part of the 
building prior to development.  In setting this elevation back, it draws greater attention and 
gives more prominence to the remaining mass of the building which contains the historic 
features of the former Public House.  

The current proposal seeks to construct a single storey front extension to the Alderman's Drive 
frontage.  This would extend to a depth of approximately 2.2 metres which would bring the 
ground floor to be in line with the building line of the remainder of the building.  The proposal is 
of flat roof design and would only extend to the width of the approved shop frontages, 

76



therefore it would not extend the existing driveway into the rear car park.  Whilst it is noted that 
the flat roof design would mirror those front extensions which have already been approved, it 
is considered that it would detract from the overall composition of the building.  It would reduce 
the subservience of the Alderman's Drive frontage and appear and incongruous feature within 
the streetscene.  The width of the proposed extension is far larger than those which have 
already been constructed on the property and of greater depth.  This would be at odds with the 
locality.  

On this basis, it is considered that the proposal would result in an unacceptable impact upon 
the character, appearance and visual amenity of the streetscene which is contrary to Policy 
CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP2 of the Peterborough 
Planning Policies DPD (2012).  

b) Neighbour amenity
As detailed above, the proposal would not extend across the existing vehicular access which 
lies adjacent to the shared boundary with No.167 Alderman's Drive.  Accordingly, the proposal 
would be sited approximately 3 metres from the adjacent residential dwelling.  It is considered 
that this distance is sufficient so as to prevent an unacceptably overbearing impact or loss of 
natural daylight to primary habitable windows.  Accordingly, the proposal would not result in 
any unacceptable impact to the amenities of neighbouring occupants, in accordance with 
Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP3 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).  

c) Parking, access and highway implications
The Local Highway Authority (LHA) has not raised any objections to the proposal.  The 
proposed front extension would be set back from the back edge of the public highway and 
therefore would have no detrimental impact.  Furthermore, it would be set back a sufficient 
distance to ensure that the pedestrian visibility splay to the existing vehicular access (2 metres 
x 2 metres) would be maintained.  This will still allow users of the access to see oncoming 
pedestrians before entering the public highway.  

With regards to parking provision, it is noted that the proposal would increase the amount of 
A1/A2/A3/A4/A5 floorspace which would generally require additional on-site parking provision.  
However, as the application site is located within the identified Local Centre, there is no 
requirement for additional parking to be provided.  Furthermore, the additional floorspace 
would not materially alter the impact arising from the development which was previously 
permitted.

In light of the above, the proposal would not result in any unacceptable impact to the safety of 
the surrounding public highway network, in accordance with Policy CS14 of the Peterborough 
Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP12 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD 
(2012).

6 Conclusions

The proposal is unacceptable having been assessed in light of all material considerations, 
including weighing against relevant policies of the development plan and for the specific reasons 
given below.

7 Recommendation

The Director of Growth and Regeneration recommends that Planning Permission is REFUSED for 
the following reason:

 
R 1 The proposed single storey front extension, by virtue of its flat roof design, size and siting, 

would detract from the overall composition of the host building.  The proposal would reduce 

77



the subservience of the two storey extension to the main bulk of the property and fails to 
respect or reflect the architectural features and character of the building.  Given the 
prominent position of the site within the streetscene, and its unique design within the 
locality which affords the property stature, the proposal would result in unacceptable harm 
to the character, appearance and visual amenity of the area.  This is contrary to Policy 
CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP2 of the Peterborough 
Planning Policies DPD (2012).

Copies to Councillors: M. Hussain, A. Iqbal, M. Jamil

78


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the Meeting Held on 26 April 2016
	5.1 16/00349/FUL - Land to the East of Manor Farm, Nene Way, Sutton, Peterborough
	5.1 1600349FUL - Land to the East of Manor Farm

	5.2 16/00497/HHFUL - 20 High Street, Glinton, Peterborough, PE6 7LS
	5.2 1600497HHFUL - 20 High Street, Glinton

	5.3 16/00590/FUL - Fitzwilliam Hospital, Milton Way, Bretton, Peterborough
	5.3 1600590FUL - Fitwilliam Hospital, Milton Way

	5.4 16/00671/FUL - 3 - 7 Oxford Road, Millfield, Peterborough, PE1 3BL
	5.4 1600671FUL - 3-7 Oxford Road, Millfield

	5.5 16/00861/FUL - 85 Mayors Walk, West Town, Peterborough, PE3 6EY
	5.5 1600861FUL - 85 Mayors Walk, West Town


